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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
TREHE

Business Review

For the fiscal year of 2006/2007, a growth in containerboard sales was
observed with 1.67 million tons of containerboard and 102,000 tons of
pulp sold (another 100,000 tons of pulp was self-used); and the total
sales volume was 1.77 million tons. The Group achieved a turnover of
HK$5,161 million and has recorded a net profit of HK$1,010 million.
This represents an increase in turnover of 36.6% and an increase in net
profit of 68.3% over last year. During the year, all of our paper production
lines and our pulp mill ran at maximum capacity.

During the year, we saw strong demand for containerboards driven by
higher export and domestic demands of manufactured goods. Further,
our superior technology and our experienced management team allow
us to produce excellent quality products at a lower cost. These two facts
result in significantly higher turnover and higher margins.

Outlook

The Group is fully confident of the market. The Group will install seven
world-class paper production lines and two bleached hardwood kraft
pulp (BHKP) production lines. In fact, PM8 and PM9, with a total annual
capacity of 860,000 tons have already started production in the first half
of 2007. PM10, PM11, with a total annual capacity of 600,000 tons, will
commence production before September 2007. The remaining three
paper production lines and two pulp production lines are also scheduled
to start production within 2008. With this expansion, the Group’s annual
pulp and paper capacity will reach 4,700,000 tons (500,000 tons of
pulp and 4,200,000 tons of containerboard), making the Group one of
the largest pulp and paper producers in the world. Just as important, we
are extending our geographic coverage with two of our paper production
lines (PM13 and PM15) and two pulp mills (BHKP1 and BHKP2) are
scheduled to start at our new production sites in Chongging and Vietnam
in 2008 and will make contribution to the Group’s profit.

Our challenges are beyond pure financial gains. With increasing social
awareness in environmental protection, we are investing in the world’s
most advanced technology to reduce water and energy consumption
and to reduce the quantity of effluents produced. With these investments,
we hope to lead the industry to a greener and healthier future, while
becoming one of the largest and most important pulp and paper
producers in the world.

On behalf of the Board

Lee Wan Keung Patrick
Chairman

Hong Kong, 16 July 2007
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

B W R

Results of Operation

Turnover and net profit attributable to equity holder of the parent for
the year ended 31 March 2007 was HK$5,161 million and HK$1,010
million, representing an increase of 36.6% and 68.3%, as compared to
HK$3,778 million and HK$600 million, respectively, for last year. The
basic earnings per share for the year was HK100.71 cents when compared
with HK62.24 cents for last year.

The increase in turnover and net profit were mainly attributable to the
significant increase in the Group’s sales of containerboard mainly due to
the result of the commercial operation of the paper machine VIl and VIII
during the year.

Selling and Distribution Costs and
Administrative Expenses

The Group’s selling and distribution costs and administrative expenses
increased by approximately 24.1% and 55.7% from HK$119 million
and HK$150 million for the year ended 31 March 2006 to HK$147 million
and HK$234 million for the year ended 31 March 2007 respectively as a
result of the expansion in the operation of the Group and the increase in
the Group’s turnover during the year.

Finance Costs

The Group’s finance costs was HK$82.5 million for the year ended 31
March 2007 as compared to HK$72.9 million for the year ended 31
March 2006. The increase was mainly due to the increase in average
amount of outstanding bank loans during the year.

Inventories, Debtors’ and Creditors’ turnover

The inventory turnover of the Group’s raw materials and finished products
were 120 days and 13 days, respectively, for the year ended 31 March
2007 as compared to 100 days and 11 days, respectively, for the year
ended 31 March 2006. This exhibits continued strong demand from our
customers.

The Group’s debtors’ turnover days were 58 days for the year ended 31
March 2007 as compared to 65 days for the year ended 31 March 2006.
This is in line with the credit terms of around 45 days to 60 days granted
by the Group to its customers.

The Group’s creditors’ turnover days were 49 days for the year ended 31
March 2007 as compared to 26 days for the year ended 31 March 2006
and is in line with the credit terms granted by the Group’s suppliers to
the Group.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

B W R

Liquidity, Financial Resources and Capital Structure
The total shareholders’ fund of the Group as at 31 March 2007 was
HK$6,571 million (31 March 2006: HK$3,577 million). As at 31 March
2007, the Group had current assets of HK$3,040 million (31 March 2006:
HK$ 1,846 million) and current liabilities of HK$ 1,748 million (31 March
2006: HK$1,148 million). The current ratio was 1.74 as at 31 March
2007 as compared to 1.61 at 31 March 2006.

The Group generally finances its operations with internally generated
cashflow and credit facilities provided by its principal bankers in Hong
Kong and the PRC. As at 31 March 2007, the Group had outstanding
bank borrowings of HK$2,080 million (31 March 2006: HK$883 million).
These bank loans were secured by corporate guarantees provided by
certain subsidiaries of the Company. The Group’s net debt-to-equity ratio
(total borrowings net of cash and cash equivalents over shareholders’
equity) decreased from 0.47 as at 31 March 2006 to 0.32 as at 31 March
2007 where HK$741 million of the convertible bonds due in 2011 were
converted into shares and thus, total long term borrowing decreased
accordingly.

The Group’s liquidity position remains strong and the Group possesses
sufficient cash and available banking facilities to meet its commitments,
working capital requirements and future investments for expansion.

The Group’s transactions and the monetary assets are principally
denominated in Renminbi, Hong Kong dollars or United States dollars.
The Group has not experienced any material difficulties or effects on its
operations or liquidity as a result of fluctuations in currency exchange
rates during the year ended 31 March 2007. During the year ended 31
March 2007, the Group has used currency structured instruments, foreign
currency borrowings or other means to hedge its foreign currency
exposure. In this regards, the Group considers its currency risk is
significantly reduced.

Use of Proceeds from the Issue of the New Shares
The net proceeds from the issue of the new shares which completed in
January 2007, of approximately HK$ 1,460 million, will be used to finance
the Group's acquisition of paper machine VI to Xl and related production
equipments and services which are expected to be incurred over the
next year. The proceeds from the issue of the new shares not immediately
applied towards the purchase of paper machines have been employed
as general working capital.
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Employees

As at 31 March 2007, the Group had a workforce of more than 5,900
people. Salaries of employees are maintained at competitive level and
are reviewed annually, with close reference to the relevant labour market
and economic situation. The Group also provides internal training to
staff and provides bonuses based upon staff performance and profits of
the Group.

The Group has not experienced any significant problems with its
employees or disruption to its operations due to labour disputes nor has
it experienced any difficulty in the recruitment and retention of
experienced staff. The Group maintains a good relationship with its
employees.

The Group has a Share Option Scheme whereby employees of the Group
are granted options to acquire shares in the Company.
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Corporate Governance Practices

The Company is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate
governance. The board of directors (the “Board”) of the Company believes
that sound and reasonable corporate governance practices are essential
for the growth of the Group and for safeguarding and maximizing
shareholders’ interests. During the year under review, the Company has
complied with the Code on Corporate Governance Practices (the “Code”)
as set out in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
(“Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

The objectives of the management structures within the Group, headed
by the Board and led by the Chairman, are to deliver sustainable value to
Shareholders.

The Chairman provides leadership to and oversees the effective
functioning of the Board. With support of the Chief Executive Officer
and the Company Secretary, the Chairman approves Board meeting
agenda, and ensures Directors have proper briefing, and timely receive
adequate and reliable information, on all Board matters.

The role of the Chairman is separate from that of the Chief Executive
Officer, and different persons hold the separate offices. Chief Executive
Officer heads the management and focuses on the day-to-day operations
of the Group.

Directors’ Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code”) as set out in Appendix 10
of the Listing Rules as a code of conduct regarding directors’ securities
transactions in 2004. All the members of the Board have confirmed,
following specific enquiry by the Company that they have complied with
the required standard as set out in the Model Code throughout the year
ended 31 March 2007. The Model Code also applies to other specified
senior management of the Group.

Lee and Man Paper Manufacturing Limited 2006/07 Annual Report
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Board of Directors
Composition and Role
The Board comprises:

Executive Directors:

Mr Lee Wan Keung Patrick (Chairman)
Mr Lee Man Chun Raymond BBS JP
Mr Lee Man Bun

Mr Li King Wai Ross

Mr Tan Siak Him Alexander

Non-executive Director:
Professor Poon Chung Kwong GBS JP

Independent Non-executive Director:
Mr Heng Kwoo Seng

Mr Wong Kai Tung Tony

Ms Law Kar Shui Elizabeth

The Board comprises of five executive directors (one of whom is the
Chairman), one non-executive director and three independent non-
executive directors. The three independent non-executive directors
represent one-third of the Board. In addition, three of the independent
non-executive directors possess appropriate legal, professional accounting
qualifications and financial management expertise.

The principal focus of the Board is on the overall strategic development
of the Group. The Board also monitors the financial performance and
the internal controls of the Group’s business operations.

The independent non-executive directors also serve the important function
of ensuring and monitoring the basis for an effective corporate
governance framework. The Board considers that each independent non-
executive director is independent in character and judgment and that
they all meet the specific independence criteria as required by the Listing
Rules. The Company has received from each independent non-executive
director an annual confirmation or confirmation of his independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The independent non-executive
directors are explicitly identified in all of the Company’s corporate
communications.
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Board of Directors (Continued)

Composition and Role (Continued)

The Chairman is primarily responsible for drawing up and approving the
agenda for each board meeting in consultation with all directors. Notice
of at least 14 days have been given to all directors for all regular board
meetings and the directors can include matters for discussion in the
agenda if necessary. Agenda and accompanying board papers in respect
of regular board meetings are sent out in full to all directors within
reasonable time before the meeting. Draft minutes of all board meetings
are circulated to directors for comment within a reasonable time prior to
confirmation.

Minutes of board meetings and meetings of board committees are kept
by duly appointed secretaries of the respective meetings and all directors
have access to board papers and related materials, and are provided
with adequate information on a timely manner, which enable the Board
to make an informed decision on matters placed before it.

During the year, full board meetings were held and the individual
attendance of each director is set out below:
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Number of board
meetings attended

HEEEY
Name of director EENE BERHE
Mr Lee Wan Keung Patrick TR ITE 477
Mr Lee Man Chun Raymond BBS JP BB S BBS A Fart 6/7
Mr Lee Man Bun PIORKE 5/7
Mr Li King Wai Ross PICEB I ar7
Mr Tan Siak Him Alexander FRifE & 2/7
Prof Poon Chung Kwong GBS JP ERIHUR GBS AP+ 3/7
Mr Heng Kwoo Seng BraFLE 417
Mr Wong Kai Tung Tony FRUR%EE 477
Ms Law Kar Shui Elizabeth #ESIE/NE 2/7
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Audit Committee
The Audit Committee was established in 2003 and its current members
include:

Mr Heng Kwoo Seng (Chairman)
Mr Wong Kai Tung Tony
Ms Law Kar Shui Elizabeth

The Board considers that each Audit Committee member has broad
commercial experience and there is a suitable mix of expertise in legal,
business and accounting on the Audit Committee. The composition and
members of the Audit Committee complies with the requirements under
Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules. The written terms of reference which
describe the authority and duties of the Audit Committee were adopted
in 2003 to conform to the provisions of the Code, a copy of which is
posted on the Company’s website.

The Audit Committee meets regularly to review the Group’s financial
reporting and other information to shareholders, the system of internal
controls, risk management and the effectiveness and objectively of the
audit process. The Audit Committee also provides an important link
between the Board and the Company’s auditors in matters coming within
the scope of its terms of reference and keeps under review the
independence and objectivity of the auditors.

The Audit Committee has reviewed with the management the accounting
principles and practices adopted by the Group and discussed internal
controls and financial reporting matters including a review of the accounts
for the year ended 31 March 2007.

During the year, three Audit Committee meetings were held and the
individual attendance of each member is set out below:
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Name of member ME®ZE HERE
Mr Heng Kwoo Seng JiIEE= e 33
Mr Wong Kai Tung Tony FRUR A 3/3
Ms Law Kar Shui Elizabeth iR/ MA 273
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Remuneration Committee
The Remuneration Committee was established in 2005 and the current
members include:

Mr Heng Kwoo Seng (Chairman)
Mr Wong Kai Tung Tony
Ms Law Kar Shui Elizabeth

All members of the Remuneration Committee are independent non-
executive directors. The Remuneration Committee advises the Board on
the Group’s overall policy and structure for the remuneration of directors
and senior management. The Remuneration Committee ensures that
no director or any of his associate is involved in deciding his own
remuneration. The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee
were adopted in 2005 to conform to the provisions of the Code, a copy
of which is posted on the Company’s website.

In determining the emolument payable to directors, the Remuneration
Committee takes into consideration factors such as salaries paid by
comparable companies, time commitment and responsibilities of the
directors, employment conditions elsewhere in the Group and the
desirability of performance-based remuneration.

The Remuneration Committee meets regularly to determine the policy
for the remuneration of directors and assess performance of executive
directors and certain senior management. One Remuneration Committee
meeting was held during the year and all members have attended in the
meeting.

Auditors’ remuneration
For the year ended 31 March 2007, the auditors of the Company only
provided audit services to the Company.

Internal Controls

The Board has overall responsibility for the system of internal controls of
the Group and for reviewing its effectiveness. The Board is committed to
implementing an effective and sound internal controls system to safeguard
the interest of shareholders and the Group’s assets. The Board has
delegated to executive management the implementation of the system
of internal controls and reviewing of all relevant financial, operational,
compliance controls and risk management function within an established
framework.
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Directors’ responsibility Statement

The directors are responsible for the preparation of accounts for each
financial period which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of
the Group and of the results and cash flow for that period. In preparing
the accounts for the year ended 31 March 2007, the directors have
selected suitable accounting policies and applied them consistently;
adopted appropriate Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and Hong
Kong Accounting Standards; made adjustments and estimates that are
prudent and reasonable; and have prepared the accounts on the going
concern basis. The directors are also responsible for keeping proper
accounting records which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time
the financial position of the Group.

Investor Relations and Communication

The Board is committed to providing clear and full information about
the Group’s performance to shareholders through the publication of
interim results and annual results in a timely manner. In addition to
dispatching circulars, notices and financial reports to shareholders,
additional information is also available to shareholders on the website of
the Company.

The annual general meeting provides a useful forum for shareholders to
raise comments and exchange views with the Board. Shareholders are
encouraged to attend annual general meetings for which the Company
gives at least 21 days’ notice. The Chairman and Directors and external
auditors are available to answer questions on the Company’s businesses
at the meeting.

Separate resolutions are proposed at the general meetings on each
substantially separate issue, including the election of individual directors.
In addition, procedures for demanding a poll are included in the circular
to shareholders dispatched together with the annual report.
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Executive Director

Mr Lee Wan Keung Patrick, aged 64, Chairman of the Company and
founder of the Group, is in charge of senior staff management and
recruitment, corporate strategy, building construction and public relations
for the Group in the PRC. He has over 44 years of experience in
manufacturing and international trade. Mr Lee is the standing member
of the Political Consultative Committee of Guangdong Province and an
honorary principal of the Qionghai Jiaji Secondary School and Hainan
Guoxing Secondary School. He has also been awarded honorary
citizenship of Dongguan.

Mr Lee Man Chun Raymond, 88S JP, aged 36, Chief Executive Officer
as well as founder of the Company, is primarily in charge of corporate
planning, investment projects and acquisition of heavy production
machines. Mr Lee has over ten years of operational experience in paper
manufacturing and is experienced in professional formula of paper making
and product development. He holds a bachelor’s degree in applied science
from the University of British Columbia in Canada. Mr Lee is also involved
in @ number of public engagements including being a standing member
of the Political Consultative Committee of Hainan, the Vice-chairman of
Rehabilitation Advisory Committee, the member of Yan Chai Hospital
Advisory Board, the Honorary President of the Kowloon region of the
Scout Association of Hong Kong and the President of the Hong Kong
Road Safety Association. Mr Lee has also been awarded honorary
citizenship of Dongguan and reputational citizenship of Changshu. In
November 2002, Mr Lee was awarded the “Young Industrialist Award
of HongKong 2002" by the Federation of the Hong Kong Industries. In
addition, in November 2003, Mr Lee was also awarded the “2003 Hong
Kong Ten Outstanding Young Persons Selection Awardee” by Hong Kong
Junior Chamber. In 2005, Mr Lee received the “Bronze Bauhinia Star”
(BBS) from the Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region and in 2007, he was appointed non-official Justice of Peace (JP).
Mr Lee is the eldest son of Mr Lee Wan Keung Patrick.

Mr Lee Man Bun, aged 27, Executive Director and Assistant General
Manager of the Company, is responsible for production management,
research & development, repair and maintenance of production machines
and factory staff management. Mr Lee holds a bachelor’s degree of
Applied Science in Chemical Engineering from the University of British
Columbia in Canada. He is also the director of Yan Chai Hospital Board
of Directors. He joined the Group in July 2003. Mr Lee is the youngest
son of Mr Lee Wan Keung Patrick.
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Executive Director (Continued)

Mr Li King Wai Ross, aged 32, Executive Director and Assistant General
Manager of the Company, is responsible for the daily factory management
of Hongmei factory, purchasing of recovered paper as well as maintaining
relationship of various government departments in Dongguan. Mr Li
holds a Masters Degree in Science (Electrical Engineering) from Stanford
University in U.S.A. and a bachelor’s degree of Applied Science (Computer
Engineering) from University of British Columbia in Canada. Mr Li has
over 7 years of experience in production management and in
technological research & development. Prior to joining the group, Mr Li
was involved in the management of computer graphics design at Sun
Microsystems, Silicon Valley, U.S.A. He joined the Group in December
2002.

Non-Executive Directors

Professor Poon Chung Kwong, GBS JP, aged 67, the non-executive
director of the Group, is currently the President of the Hong Kong
Polytechnic University and has over 35 years working experience in
educational sector. He was honoured as one of the “Ten Outstanding
Young Persons in Hong Kong” in 1979; was appointed Non-official Justice
of the Peace (JP) in 1989; received the OBE in 1991 and the Gold Bauhinia
Star (GBS) in 2002.

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr Wong Kai Tung Tony, aged 64, an independent non-executive
Director of the Group, has been a practicing lawyer in Hong Kong since
1968 and has also been admitted as a solicitor in England and Wales. He
is currently a consultant at Messrs. Hastings & Co., Solicitors and Notaries.

Mr Heng Kwoo Seng, aged 59, an independent non-executive Director
of the Group, is the Managing Partner of Morison Heng, Chartered
Accountants and Certified Public Accountants in Hong Kong. He is a
fellow member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England
and Wales and an associate member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. He has worked with a number of companies
listed on the Stock Exchange either in the capacity of company secretary
or as an independent non-executive director.
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Independent Non-Executive Directors (Continued)
Ms Law Kar Shui Elizabeth, aged 58, an independent non-executive
Director of the Group, is the director of Park Hotel International Limited,
and previously the director of Laws International Group Limited. She has
over 32 years’ experience in textile and garment industries and was
responsible for the management of the sweater and knitwear business.
She has also over 12 years’ experience in property investment and
development. She is the General Manager of Park Hotel and the Director
of a number of business enterprises, responsible for the overall
management and strategic planning of the businesses.

Senior Management

Mr Hui Yick Kwan Tony, aged 49, the Finance Director of the Company,
is in charge of corporate financial matters, investors and bankers relations
of the Group. Mr Hui holds a bachelor’s degree in Commerce and a
master’s degree in business administration. Mr Hui is an associate member
of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, the CPA
Australia and a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants. He is a Certified Public Accountant Practicing in Hong Kong
and has more than 21 years of experience in auditing, business advisory
and financial management. He joined the Group in November 2005.

Mr Chan Kong Sang, aged 47, is the project manager of the Group
responsible for all the mechanical and electrical engineering projects.
Mr Chan holds a bachelor’s degree of science in engineering from the
University of Hong Kong. Mr Chan has over 24 years of operational
experience in managing production and engineering aspects of
manufacturing businesses and joined the Group in January 2001.

Mr Cheung Kwok Keung, aged 40, is the Chief Financial Officer of the
Group responsible for the internal supervision and management of the
Group’s financial matters and company secretary of the Company. Mr
Cheung is a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants and an associate member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants and has over 18 years of experience in the
field of auditing, accounting and financial management. Mr Cheung
holds a professional diploma in accountancy from the Hong Kong
Polytechnic University. He joined the Group in August 2002.
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Senior Management (Continued)

Mr Tse Pak Kong, aged 44, is the senior manager of the Company,
responsible for the global procurement of recovered paper businesses.
Mr Tse holds a bachelor’s degree of science in electrical engineering from
the University of Hong Kong. He has over 20 years of experience in the
management of both multinational and local companies in China. Mr
Tse joined the Group in December 2005.

Mr Wu Pak Ping, aged 40, is the general manager of Chongging Lee &
Man responsible for the construction of Chongging industrial park. Mr
Wu holds a bachelor’s degree in civil engineering from the University of
Hunan and has over 21 years of experience in planning and managing
infrastructure. He joined the Group in April 1997.

Mr Lau Kwok Keung, aged 50, is the executive manager of Jiangsu
Lee & Man responsible for the daily operation and management of Jiangsu
Lee & Man. Mr Lau holds a bachelor’s degree of science (engineering)
from Imperial College of Science and Technology, University of London.
He has over 19 years of factory operation and management experience.
He joined the Group in July 2003.

Mr Tang Pok Man, aged 34, is the executive manager of Vietnam Lee
& Man responsible for the construction and management of Vietnam
industrial park. Mr Tang holds a bachelor’s degree in Commerce from
the Concordia University of Canada. He has 10 years of experience in
production management. He joined the Group in September 2005.

Mr Chan Chi Ho, aged 38, is a production manager of the Jiangsu
plant, responsible for paper production management and engineering
matters. Mr Chan has over 18 years of experience in overseeing
production matters in the paper manufacturing business. Mr Chan joined
the Group in April 1999.

Ms Lam Sau Ping, aged 38, is the sales manager of the Group responsible
for sales and marketing. Ms. Lam holds a higher certificate in marketing
and sales management from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University. Ms.
Lam has over 17 years of work experience in sales and marketing. She
joined the Group in March 1996.

Mr Lu Man Sheng, aged 60, is a production manager of Dongguan
Lee & Man responsible for the management of paper manufacturing.
Mr Lu holds a professional engineer certificate for paper manufacturing
stock preparation from the Guangxi School of Light Industry. Mr Lu has
over 37 years of experience in paper manufacturing and production
management. He joined the Group in May 1994.
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Senior Management (Continued)

Mr Sinn Wai Kin Derek, aged 47, is the Deputy Financial Controller of
the Group responsible for the accounting and financial matters of those
oversea companies of the Group .He is a fellow member of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and have been more than
20 year in audit, accounting and financial management. He joined the
Group in August 2006.

Mr Wu Xiao Shi, aged 40, is the power plant manager of the Group
responsible for management of power production. Mr Wu holds a
bachelor’s degree in engineering from Dongnan University. Mr Wu has
over 18 years of experience in power production management. Mr Wu
joined the Group in December 1999.
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DIRECTORS" REPORT
EEEHRE

The directors present their annual report and the audited financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2007.

Principal Activities

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in note 34 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Results and Appropriations
The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2007 are set out
in the consolidated income statement on page 31.

The directors of the Company recommended the payment of a final
dividend of HK$0.2 per share for the year ended 31 March 2007 to the
shareholders whose name appear on the register of members on 3
September 2007, amounting to approximately HK$224 million, subject
to the approval of the shareholders at the forthcoming annual general
meeting.

Share Capital
Details of movements in the share capital of the Company are set out in
note 27 to the consolidated financial statements.

Property, Plant and Equipment

During the year, the Group acquired property, plant and equipment at a
cost of approximately HK$1,962 million for the purpose of expanding its
business. Details of this and other movements in the property, plant and
equipment of the Group during the year are set out in note 14 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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Directors and Directors’ Service Contracts
The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of this
report were:

Executive directors

Lee Wan Keung Patrick (Chairman)

Lee Man Chun Raymond, BBS JP (Chief Executive Officer)
Lee Man Bun

Li King Wai Ross

Tan Siak Him Alexander

Non-executive director
Professor Poon Chung Kwong, GBS JP

Independent non-executive directors
Wong Kai Tung Tony

Heng Kwoo Seng

Law Kar Shui Elizabeth

In accordance with Articles 86(3) and 87(1) of the Company’s Articles of
Association, Mr Lee Wan Keung Patrick, Mr Wong Kai Tung Tony and Mr
Heng Kwoo Seng retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for
re-election.

Mr Lee Wan Keung Patrick, Mr Lee Man Chun Raymond and Mr Tan
Siak Him Alexander, have entered into service agreements with the
Company for an initial period of four years commencing 1 September
2003, which will continue thereafter unless and until terminated by either
party by three months’ prior written notice.

Mr Lee Man Bun has entered into a service agreement with the Company
for an initial period of three years commencing 16 August 2004, which
will continue thereafter unless and until terminated by either party by
three months’ prior written notice.

Mr Li King Wai Ross has entered into a service agreement with the
Company for an initial period of three years commencing 12 August
2005, which will continue thereafter unless and until terminated by either
party by three months’ prior written notice.

The term of office of each of the independent non-executive directors is
the period up to his/her retirement as required by the Company’s Articles
of Association.

Lee and Man Paper Manufacturing Limited 2006/07 Annual Report
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Directors’ and Chief Executives’ interests and Short
Positions in Equity or Debt Securities

As at 31 March 2007, the relevant interests or short positions of the
directors or chief executives of the Company in the shares, underlying
shares and debentures of the Company or its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance
(“SFO") which are required to be notified to the Company and The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) pursuant to
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short
positions which they have taken or deemed to have taken under such
provisions of the SFO) or were required pursuant to section 352 of the
SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein or were required,
pursuant to the relevant provisions of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) relating to securities
transactions by directors to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange were as follows:

Long positions
@  Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each of the Company

EERIETHABRBRAN KBRS TR
BHRERRA

R-FBLE=A=—B ARAZEELTE
AIRABEAR TSI AE (GE# SB5 RS
DI ([ R 1)) B+TH) MAR( 18
BIRRID RS A A BRI S R DI
+EBETRESH BT MRARAREARA
RSFERAT (B ]) ERIERSIAR (B
RIS RS I B B e
A RS SOAR) SURIGE S RS (5 DIE352
B BRSRREFTR I B MO R SR
BB ATES LAl (L8Rl e SR
TBHR S BRI ARG AR LB
HIHRIT

A
@ ANFIFREEO.10 A EiER

Number of Percentage
ordinary shares of the issued
subject to share capital
Number of options granted of the Company
Name of director Capacity ordinary shares 1R HAEBRENS R EARRCET
£33 S LERHA WL EREE RARS I
Lee Wan Keung Patrick Held by controlled corporation (Note) 720,000,000 - 64.32%
FER X EHEERE ()
Lee Man Chun Raymond Held by controlled corporation (Note) 720,000,000 492,000 64.32%
Fxik X EHEERE ()
Lee Man Bun Held by controlled corporation (Note) 720,000,000 300,000 64.32%
Z308 X EHEERA ()
Tan Siak Him Alexander Beneficial owner 350,000 600,000 0.03%
BHE EREEA
Li King Wai Ross Beneficial owner - 600,000 -
e EREEA
Poon Chung Kwong Beneficial owner 50,000 480,000 0.01%
ERK ERBAA
Wong Kai Tung Tony Beneficial owner 400,000 - 0.04%
TRE ERBAA
Heng Kwoo Seng Beneficial owner 942,000 - 0.08%
it ERBAA

Note: These shares were held by Gold Best Holdings Ltd. (“Gold Best”),
whose entire issued share capital is held by Trustcorp Limited
(“Trustcorp”) as trustee for The Fortune Star 1992 Trust, a
discretionary trust the discretionary beneficiaries of which include
Mr Lee Wan Keung Patrick, Mr Lee Man Chun Raymond and Mr
Lee Man Bun (all of them are directors of the Company), certain of
their family members and other charitable objects.

ML 52D H Gold Best Holdings Ltd. ([Gold
Best] ) #75 + Gold Bestfy & 3 2 27T A H
Trustcorp Limited [Trustcorpl) LAThe
Fortune Star 1992 Trustf{ZsEA F D45 H -
The Fortune Star 1992 Trust2 — B2 {2
T HERIHEABRETERLE TXE
FERPICRELE (BHBHR/EATES)
BEETRGEKNE REMEEEE.
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Directors’ and Chief Executives’ interests and Short EEER T E{THASRBEANEHHES T H
Positions in Equity or Debt Securities (Continued) BHRERRE (&)

Long positions (Continued) wa (&)

(b)  Ordinary shares of the associated corporations of the Company (b) ALEIFREE R E B

Percentage

of the issued
share capital of
the associated

Name of Number of corporation

associated ordinary [ E L E

Name of director Capacity corporation shares BETRA

EEpA 20 LR AR LTEREE Btk

Lee Wan Keung Patrick Held by controlled corporation (Note) Gold Best 5 100%
ESEL B EHERREE (M)

Lee Man Chun Raymond  Held by controlled corporation (Note) Gold Best 5 100%
E'¢l s B EHERRE ()

Lee Man Bun Held by controlled corporation (Note) Gold Best 5 100%
308, B EHERRE (M)

Note: As Gold Best owns more than 50% interest of the Company, Gold Ffif3E: FRFGold BestiEA 2~ A A150% A _E iz - 1R

Best is an associated corporation of the Company under the SFO. BEH R HEIER] Gold BestA4A A BIAIAE

The entire issued share capital of Gold Best is owned by Trustcorp Ht % [®Gold Best B2 R ETIRANH

as trustee for The Fortune Star 1992 Trust, a discretionary trust the Trustcorp BAThe Fortune Star 1992 Trust#y

discretionary objects of which include Mr Lee Wan Keung Patrick, LA B A The Fortune Star 1992

Mr Lee Man Chun Raymond and Mr Lee Man Bun (all of them are TrustE —TEREET B2 RITARES

directors of the Company), certain of their family members and BRI BB RSO A (2

other charitable objects. HRAARESE) BENETHIEKE R

Hihz=Ege.

Save as disclosed above and other than certain nominee shares in  F EXPTREEEING T ETEEIERREGANUE
subsidiaries held by certain directors in trust for the Company, none of ~ FEZARARFFAE THEBARETRMH M
the directors or chief executives or their associates had any interests or ~ R-ZZ+F=A=+—H FEF FTE2THAE
short positions in any shares, underlying shares or debentures of the i SFHIHHEE A I RAE AR RIS AT RIAEH AR
Company or any of its associated corporations as at 31 March 2007. B BRI S ES T R T AERSOR R
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Share Options
Particulars of the Company’s share option schemes, namely Share Option
Scheme and Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme, are set out in note 28 to the
financial statements.

TERBEAD T ERAR ERA BT
BRI EBIER

QU
~

(@) The following table discloses movements in the Company’s Pre-IPO  (
Share Option Scheme during the year.

Number of shares of the Company
to be issued upon
exercise of the share options

REREETERSET
BITHANARBEE
Exercise
price per
share Outstanding Outstanding
(=1 at1.4.2006  Exercised at 31.3.2007
Date of TiEE Exercisable ~ —FFAE during Z—FFt&
Name grant HK$ period mMA—H theyear =H=+—H
A b=k BT fTiEH R AT FWiTE B R ATHE
Category I: Directors
- E=
Tan Siak Him Alexander B 11.9.2003 417 26.3.2004 to 1,566,000 (1,566,000) -
25.9.2006
Wong Kai Tung Tony IHR 11.9.2003 417 26.3.2004 to 500,000 (500,000) N
25.9.2006
Heng Kwoo Seng il 11.9.2003 417 26.3.2004 to 800,000 (800,000) -
25.9.2006
Total Directors EXEY 2,866,000  (2,866,000) -
Category II: Other employees
$_H RS
Employees €8 11.9.2003 417 26.3.2004 to 2,650,000 (2,650,000) -
25.9.2006
Total o 5,516,000  (5516,000) -

The closing prices of the Company’s shares immediately before the
date which the options were exercised were as follows:

AR FRG BB TE B AT — K 2
BT

Closing price before
the date of exercise

TiE B EATR T (E
Number of share options exercised HK$
RERREITERRNEE BT
4,450,000 12.00
1,066,000 12.92
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Share Options (Continued)

(b) The following table discloses movements in the Company’s Share

Option Scheme during the year:

BB (8

b) TIRBEBEARBTNFABREAE T2

Number of shares of the Company
to be issued upon

exercise of the share options

REBRERTERS®T
BITHAL R RMEE
Exercise
price per
share Outstanding Outstanding
B8R at 1.4.2006 Granted  Exercised at31.3.2007
T8 Exercisable ZFEFRE during during Z—EEtE
Name Date of grant HKS period mA—H the year theyear =F=+—H
A% i A BT fTiEH i KT FREH FRITHE B KT
Category I: Directors
- EE
Li King Wai Ross B 23.12.2005 8.50 23.12.2005 600,000 - - 600,000
10 22.12.2008
Lee Man Chun Raymond ~ Z3({& 3.10.2006 15.10 1.1.2008 - 492,000 - 492,000
t031.12.2010
Lee Man Bun Z308 3102006  15.10 1.1.2008 - 300,000 - 300,000
t031.12.2010
Tan Siak Him Alexander [R5 & 3.10.2006 15.10 1.1.2008 - 600,000 - 600,000
t031.12.2010
Poon Chung Kwong BRK 3.10.2006 15.10 1.1.2008 - 480,000 - 480,000
t031.12.2010
Category II: Other employees
$_F k8
Employees EE 23.12.2005 8.50 23.12.2005 1,200,000 - (300,000) 900,000
1022.12.2008
Employees ES 3.10.2006 15.10 1.1.2008 - 3,156,000 - 3,156,000
t031.12.2010
Employees E& 3.10.2006 15.10 1.1.2009 - 300,000 - 300,000
t031.12.2010
Total 2 1,800,000 5328000  (300,000) 6,828,000

The closing prices of the Company’s shares on the date of grant

were HK$8.50 and HK$15.10.
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Directors’ rights to Acquire Shares or Debentures
Save as disclosed under the heading “Share Options” above, at no time
during the year was the Company, its holding company or any of its
fellow subsidiaries and subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable
the directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of shares in, or debts securities (including debentures) of, the
Company or any other body corporate and none of the directors, their
spouses or children under the age of 18, had any rights to subscribe for
securities of the Company, or had exercised any such rights.

Substantial Shareholders

As at 31 March 2007, the following persons (other than directors or
chief executives of the Company) had interests or short positions in the
ordinary shares of the Company which fall to be disclosed to the Company
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which
were recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under
section 336 of the SFO:

Long positions
Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each of the Company

EEERERMBESHED

B L3 [RERR ] — S PR EEE SN AR A HARAR
DA BRI R E A F KM E AR R EAER
R ERT A LB BUEA AR EZ BB
FEAN R R SAE A EARE A B R RR D S B R 55
(BIEERER) MERN D MEESHEENER
SK18BRIA N HY T 2 IR A] FRRE AN A BRE 7 0 1)
RER TR TIEAEAT % FHER -

EEBRHE
W=BELE=F=+—0 THIA FATEF
S BITRA BRSN) AR AN LR HAR
BB R OIS T BN REIHBRE
AR ARBOESIAR  RIRIEES R
336 eI RN A R TR I B
BRMRmESRAR:

WA
A FEZARIETEO. 10 BT A B AR

Percentage of

Number of the issued

issued ordinary share capital of

shares held the Company

Name of shareholder Capacity BECET (oA

BEEA g4 L@ HAE BEITHRAESL

Gold Best Beneficial owner 720,000,000 64.32%

Em=AA

Trustcorp Held by controlled corporation 720,000,000 64.32%
BXEHEE R

Lee Wong Wai Kuen Held by spouse (Note) 720,000,000 64.32%
FEER B EEE ()

Note: Under the SFO, Lee Wong Wai Kuen is deemed to be interested in these  i5t: RZFZEHFREEEN X FERIBETER (K

720,000,000 ordinary shares as she is the spouse of Lee Wan Keung
Patrick, a director of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2007, the Company had not
been notified by any persons (other than directors or chief executives of
the Company) who had interests or short positions in the shares or
underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to
the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of the Part XV of
the SFO, or which were recorded in the register required to be kept by
the Company under section 336 of the SFO.

NRIER) MEE  BER A% A % 720,000,000
& AR F i A

B EXFHBEEIN N T LF=A=1+—H
BEMAL (RRRESHTBITRAEERIN A
SARRNE WEEARRTNRD HAABR O P ES
REES MEEERIIE TR aE2 R E30 #HIR
EARRAARRRENEDIOA R IIREE SN
B1&PIFE3361FNRTE LR AR THEZIEFE
MBI AAERIORE
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Appointment of Independent Non-Executive
Directors

The Company has received, from each of the independent non-executive
directors, an annual confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule
3.13 of the Rules Governing the Listing Securities on the Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited. The Company considers all of the independent
non-executive directors are independent.

Connected Transactions

Details of the discloseable connected transactions for the year are set
out in note 32 to the consolidated financial statements. In the opinion of
the independent non-executive directors, these transactions entered into
by the Group were:

(i) inthe ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

(i)  either (@) on normal commercial terms; or (b) where there is no
available comparison, on terms that were fair and reasonable so
far as the shareholders of the Company are concerned;

(iii) either (a) in accordance with the terms of the agreements; or (b)
where there are no such agreements, on terms no less favourable
than those available to or from independent third parties; and

(iv)  within the relevant cap amounts as agreed by the Stock Exchange.

Save as disclosed above, there were no other transactions which are
required to be disclosed as connected transactions in accordance with
the requirements of the Listing Rules.

Directors’ interest in Contracts

Save as disclosed under the heading “Connected Transactions”, there
were no contracts of significance to which the Company, its holding
company or any of its fellow subsidiaries and subsidiaries was a party
and in which a director of the Company had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisting at the end of the year or at any time
during the year.
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Major Customers and Suppliers

During the year, the aggregate purchases attributable to the Group’s
five largest suppliers comprised approximately 62% of the Group’s total
purchases and the purchases attributable to the Group’s largest supplier
were approximately 26% of the Group’s total purchases.

The aggregate sales during the year attributable to the Group’s five largest
customers were less than 10% of the Group’s total sales.

None of the directors, their associates or any shareholder which, to the
knowledge of the directors, owned more than 5% of the Company’s
issued share capital had any interest in the share capital of any of the five
largest suppliers of the Group.

Purchase, Sale or Redemption of the Company’s
Listed Securities

During the year, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities.

Sufficiency Of Public Float

According to the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the directors, the Company has maintained
a sufficient public float throughout the year ended 31 March 2007.

Pre-emptive Rights

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s bye-
laws, or the laws of Cayman Islands, which would oblige the Company
to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

Emolument Policy

The Group remunerates its employees based on their performance,
experience and prevailing market rate. Other employee benefits including
insurance and medical cover and share options are also provided.

The determination of emoluments of the directors of the Company has
taken into consideration their expertise and job specifications.

Donations
During the year, the Group made charitable and other donations
amounting to HK$300,000.

FEEPRIMER
FAAEERIAHERERNEEARBED
62% - MALKEFA R AR SERREED
26%-°

FR AEERAREPHAHERIGANEERIHE
FEOPN0% ©

MEEMNES REFOBBALTHEMER GLE
EMAAEEARRRDBEITRAS %A L) R A
SEA KRR AT A T e

BEESEEANA EHES

TR AR S E R E A ) E S = e fE R A
NEEA LTS

B ZAREFRE

BARRAAIASEZ AFRERPIR KA EEMA
BARRBE_ZELF-A=T"HZFER
EHERFRIANTIRE -

BEBEE
AR ARAIRFESEE A EARETE
BREZIE0 REARRRIRRSSIRLLAIRIRA IR
BEF -

i B B R
AEEREE TRIE K L5 ERETEFMH-
HAh 8 TR B IERR - BERRE R B

ARPEFZHFMETCEEEER R TIFHE-

BN
FR RABEHZEE L EMBRA 300,000
BT
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Post Balance Sheet Events
Details of the significant post balance sheet events are set out in note 35
to the consolidated financial statements.

Auditors

A resolution will be submitted to the annual general meeting of the
Company to re-appoint Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as auditors of
the Company.

On behalf of the Board
Lee Wan Keung Patrick

Director

Hong Kong, 16 July 2007
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT
B AL BN R

Deloitte.
=20

TO THE MEMBERS OF LEE & MAN PAPER
MANUFACTURING LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Lee & Man
Paper Manufacturing Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 31 to 95, which
comprise the consolidated balance sheet as at 31 March 2007, and the
consolidated income statement, the consolidated statement of changes
in equity and the consolidated cash flow statement for the year then
ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other
explanatory notes.

Directors’ responsibility for the consolidated financial statements
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and
the true and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. This responsibility
includes designing, implementing and maintaining internal control
relevant to the preparation and the true and fair presentation of the
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying
appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that
are reasonable in the circumstances.

Auditor’s responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial
statements based on our audit and to report our opinion solely to you,
as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report. We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Those standards require that we comply with ethical
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance as to whether the consolidated financial statements are free
from material misstatement.

BIEERARAFRER
(REISH S MBI BRAA])

RIZHETTEERINENEINEFISARNZIEX
ERBRAR ([ERR]) REMBAR CATAHE
RIERHE]) ZGEMBRE WEVHHRRER
RIZEZLF=A=+—HZHEREERER H
BEZAILFRE2GERGER FaBaEHR L
HFARSRER URETESTHRRME LA

EENGAMBERRARENEL
BERTEFARARBE S MASRANEL
AR EER R (BB R TR B B R E AR
REEMAPIRZEFRAMBHRER -ZFEE
BRERE Bk EEERE LA BN QIR
iR A MTEIRIRAARE 2 MERER R PAEAR & BTE R
PFHERRREFHERMEE 2 EAFHREM &
BREREE 2B MRER TMELAER
Sathste

HE D B

RTZ A ERRBATTERER SR WHRE
EHER WRBERREL RS MIHEEMA
AT ERARE 2 NB RIEFRE A LA
EMEEREH-ATEREELSASRM
BB B EAEITER TIE- L F RN ZRARTT
BTERAE WARE R TR AR ERTE I
FRAVBRRED M AR EAE R
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Auditor’s responsibility (Continued)

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about
the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements.
The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including
the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk
assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s
preparation and true and fair presentation of the consolidated financial
statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as well
as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial
statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the state of affairs of the Group as at 31 March 2007 and of the
Group's profit and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly
prepared in accordance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 16 July 2007
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT
malER

For the year ended 31 March 2007 #Z_—FZF+F=A=1—HIFFZ

2007 2006
ZEFEEF —EERF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
T FET T
Revenue A 6 5,160,552 3,778,054
Cost of sales SHE R (3,799,101) (2,903,880)
Gross profit EA 1,361,451 874,174
Other income H U A 143,175 93,215
Selling and distribution costs SHEE R SHAKAR (147,029) (118,517)
Administrative expenses 1TEE A (234,127) (150,349)
Finance costs SR I 7 (82,465) (72,937)
Profit before taxation BRF AT & A 1,041,005 625,586
Income tax expense MER = 8 (30,894) (25,558)
Profit for the year FERF] 9 1,010,111 600,028
Attributable to: FE(L:
Equity holder of the Company RNAIREFEFB A 1,010,204 600,028
Minority interests DEAR S (93) -
1,010,111 600,028
Dividend R 2 12 395,541 173,409
Earnings per share TRREA 13
— Basic — HK HK100.71 cents &1l | HK62.24 cents /&1
— Diluted — 5 HK98.55 cents &l | HK62.13 cents 7Ll
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

meEEERER

At 31 March 2007 —FF+#F=HA=+—H

2007 2006
—EEtE ZETRF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Bt F#HT FHTT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y E MR 14 5,524,620 3,575,000
Prepaid lease payments — non-current B R EFIE — ERED
portion #tn 15 316,831 176,441
Deposits paid for acquisition of property, ~ BEEWE BE R RE XL
plant and equipment and land use rights ~ T3B{FE RN F] & 16 931,536 155,649
Deferred tax assets RETIEE = 24 31,707 19,956
Retirement benefit assets BINER B E 26 682 607
6,805,376 3,927,653
CURRENT ASSETS mBEE
Inventories A 17 1,379,159 774,259
Prepaid lease payments — current portion  FBfI R EFIA —iRENE D 15 14,982 3,850
Trade receivables JEWE 5 8RR 18 819,383 676,364
Bills receivable L E N 18 261,239 130,753
Deposits, prepayments and other receivables 1%« FE 1< 508 I H A fE U R T 293,070 125,597
Amount due from a related company FEME Fa:E A BI5RIE 19 12,743 22,938
Derivative financial instruments PTEMET A 20 42,310 1,131
Restricted bank deposits ABRFIRITER 21 1,953 1,154
Bank balances and cash RITHESBR LIRS 21 214,985 110,317
3,039,824 1,846,363
CURRENT LIABILITIES mnBaE
Trade and bills payable FERTBR R R =K 22 510,454 169,689
Accruals and other payables FEET & A R E M FE S FRIE 380,029 181,575
Taxation payable FERFRIR 20,718 12,358
Bank borrowings — due within one year HRITEE ——FRE 23 824,762 782,611
Derivative financial instruments PTEMKEIT A 20 12,104 2,028
1,748,067 1,148,261
NET CURRENT ASSETS mEEEFE 1,291,757 698,102
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT EEAERNRSAR
LIABILITIES 8,097,133 4,625,755
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2007 2006
ZFFLHF —ZTX

Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Mo5E FiET F&TT

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES ERBEE
Bank borrowings — due after one year RITEER ——F1&EH 23 1,255,600 100,000
Deferred tax liabilities FEEFIREE 24 46,932 30,266
Convertible bonds Al AR (ES 25 205,364 901,006
Retirement benefit liabilities RKEN BE 26 18,536 17,439
1,526,432 1,048,711
6,570,701 3,577,044

CAPITAL AND RESERVES B R
Share capital % 27 111,948 96,761
Reserves (Gt 6,458,846 3,480,283

Equity attributable to equity holders BaFBR AR REEE A

of the Company 6,570,794 3,577,044
Minority interests DB (93) -
Total equity b Ty 6,570,701 3,577,044

The consolidated financial statements on pages 31 to 95 were approved
and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 16 July 2007 and

are signed on its behalf by:

Lee Wan Keung Patrick ZE&3&

Chairman /&

FINEFSEFHMLESNBHREEN S
FLA+ANBEEFTe A METEE Wh T
BERREE:

Lee Man Chun Raymond Z321%

Director %

T
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
GAERBBE

For the year ended 31 March 2007 & IF —FZF+F=H=1—HIFFZ

Attributable to equity holders of the Company

34

FARR A AER
Convertible
bonds
Share equity
options reserve
Share Share  reserve Translation  Special  FI#ME  Retained Minority Total
capital premium  BHE  reseve  reserve &% profits Total interests  equity
BE  BhEE BE Eifk BURE EiRG GFEN #% JHRE RELs
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
ThEr TEr TEr  TEr  TEr  TEr  TEr  TEr  TEr TEx
At 1 April 2005 “ZZHFNA-A 96,338 1,846,628 - 19,463 (2,999) - 1,082,031 3,041,461 - 3,041,461
Exchange differences arisingon ~ EEZRR@ERLZ
translation of foreign operations  /EShE R
recognised directly in equity FEEZERZS - - - 29521 - - - 2952 - 29521
Profit for the year EERA - - - - - - 600,028 600,028 - 600028
Total recognised income and EEERBZNAR
expenses for the year et - - - 29521 - - 600,028 629,549 - 629,549
Issue of convertible bonds EAMaRES - - - - - 62000 - 62,000 - 62,000
Transaction costs attributable  HETAERER
toissue of convertible bonds MEEZRFKA - - - - - (1,744) - (1,744) - (1,744)
Issue of shares on exercise of  REEIREELTIE
share options mEIRA 423 17,191 = = = = - 17604 - 17604
Share-based payment IR (3 - - 158 - - - - 157 - 157
Dividend paid (note 12) RS (BrzE12) = = = = = - (173409) (173,409) - (173409)
At 31 March 2006 “2%\5ZA=1-H 9,761 1,863,819 1,573 48 984 (2999) 60,256 1,508,650 3,577,044 - 3,577,044
Exchange differences arisingon B RN REHAL
translation of foreign operations  ESNEREHE
recognised directly in equity FEEZBLER - - - 144,887 - - - 144887 - 144887
Profit for the year EERA - - - - = - 1,010204 1,010,204 (93) 1,010,111
Total recognised income and EEERALBAR
expenses for the year Ry @t - - - 144,887 - - 1,010,204 1,155,091 (93) 1,154,998
Issue of shares on exercise of ~ REEIRIEET(E
share options TE1The 58 25531 (561) - - - - 2555 - 255%
Issue of shares on conversion of A ik fE% 1
convertible bonds 610 6,605 782,729 - - - (47921) - IMM3 - 1443
Issue of shares on placement RERmETRD
of shares 8000 1451823 - - - - - 1,459,823 - 1459823
Share-based payment RS (1308 - - 1M - - - - 74 - 74
Dividend paid (note 12) &S (F1F12) - - - - - - (395,541) (395541) - (395,541)
At 31 March 2007 ZZ5tEZR=1-H 111,948 4,123,902 8424 193871 (2999) 12,335 2123313 6,570,794 (93) 6,570,701

The special reserve of the Group represents the difference between the
nominal value of the aggregate share capital of the subsidiaries acquired
by the Group pursuant to the corporate reorganisation in September

2003, and the nominal value of the Company’s shares issued for the

acquisition.
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DATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

For the year ended 31 March 2007 #Z_—FZF+F=A=1—HIFFZ

2007 2006
—EEEE —EETR
HK$'000 HK$’'000
FH&T FHTT
OPERATING ACTIVITIES BEXEW
Profit before taxation AT & A 1,041,005 625,586
Adjustments for: y=IP W N=Sr=EEE S
Amortization of prepaid lease payments TEAE SR IREE I 3,099 3,844
Depreciation of property, plant ER GG ki
and equipment 151,767 97,989
Loss on disposal of property, HEME BERBEEE
plant and equipment 2 B8 234 365
Interest income ISEPN (4,136) (1,871)
Net gain arising from change EOTHEI B T AR THE
in fair value of derivative BHELNFSR
financial instrument (31,103) (23,103)
Retirement benefit expense RINEFIFAZ 1,022 17,349
Share-based payment expense AR R 7,412 1,573
Finance costs SR I 82,465 72,937
Operating cash flows before EEEF AN
movements in working capital KERSME 1,251,765 794,669
Increase in inventories HFEEM (583,904) (236,441)
Increase in trade receivables FEWE 5 BRFRIE AN (170,074) (184,819)
Increase in bills receivable FEMZEFIL AN (135,716) (58,676)
(Increase) decrease in deposits, e FETFRIE R E M EL
prepayments and other receivables FRIB (3L 0) (172,497) 11,164
Decrease (increase) in amount due from e REE A R FUE
a related company e yili)) 9,277 (22,338)
Increase in trade and bills payable FERTBRFR R = RGN 347,553 73,807
Increase (decrease) in accruals and FEE+E A R B M R 78
other payables #hn Omid>) 205,718 (6,980)
Cash generated from operations KEXBEFENRS 752,122 370,386
Hong Kong Profits Tax refunded BBFIFEIRK - 92
PRC Foreign Enterprise Income Tax paid B EINE R EEE (16,059) (7.116)
Interest paid EASALE (36,694) (56,496)
NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES BE& (B ELMNREFH 699,369 306,866
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For the year ended 31 March 2007 #Z_—FZF+F=HA=1—HIFFZ

2007 2006
ZFFLHF —EERF
HK$'000 HK$'000
T#ET FAT
INVESTING ACTIVITIES BEED
Purchase of property, plant and equipment & W% = M & (1,799,914) (1,028,669)
Deposits paid for acquisition of property, — BEE % =M%
plant and equipment and land use right Kt H(F AT R £ (931,537) (155,649)
Prepaid lease payments TEMEEFE (145,452) (23,199)
Increase in restricted bank deposit BRRHIRITEFIE N (845) (119)
Interest received BUFIE 4,136 1,871
Proceeds from disposal of property, HE W BRE Rk
plant and equipment FrfS 5008 59 6,086
Release of retirement benefit scheme RIREFIET B = 803
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING BEFH A
ACTIVITIES H&FH (2,873,553) (1,198,876)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES REEE
New bank loans raised HMERBITERK 4,587,477 1,368,540
Net proceeds from issue of shares BTN TS SR IE 558 1,485,375 17,614
Net proceeds on issue of convertible bonds — Z£77 AJ IR (& 55 FT1S 7008 5 58 = 971,875
Repayment of bank loans BERITER (3,406,640) (1,262,424)
Dividend paid EIRRE (395,541) (173,409)
Increase in bank overdraft ERITIESILAN 11,541 504
NET CASH FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES BREiEENETRR&FHE 2,282,212 922,700
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND ReERAEEEY
CASH EQUIVALENTS HhFE%EE 108,028 30,690
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS REBRREEEYRIGEER
BROUGHT FORWARD 110,317 81,600
EFFECT OF EXCHANGE RATE CHANGES EXREFHz & (3.360) (1,973)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS RERBRcEBYEE
CARRIED FORWARD
represented by bank balances and cash ~ $R1T4&E#H MIRE 214,985 110,317
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB R FTRE

For the year ended 31 March 2007 #Z_—FZF+F=A=1—HIFFZ

General

The Company is a public limited company incorporated and
registered as an exempted company with limited liability in the
Cayman Islands under the Companies Law (2001 Second Revision)
of the Cayman Islands on 21 May 2003 and its shares are listed on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).
The parent and ultimate holding company of the Company is Gold
Best Holdings Ltd. (“Gold Best"), a private company incorporated
in the British Virgin Islands. The address of the registered office and
the principal place of business of the Company is disclosed in the
Corporate Information section of the annual report.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars ("HKD"), which is the functional currency of the Company.

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in note 34.

Application of Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards

In the current year, the Group has applied, for the first time, a
number of new standards, amendments and interpretations (the
“new HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (the “HKICPA") that are effective for accounting
periods beginning on or after 1 December 2005, 1 January 2006
or 1 March 2006. The adoption of the new HKFRSs had no material
effect on how the results and financial position for the current or
prior accounting periods have been prepared and presented.
Accordingly, no prior period adjustment has been required.

The Group has not early applied the following new standards,
amendment or interpretations that have been issued but are not
yet effective. The directors of the Group anticipate that the
application of these standards, amendment or interpretations will
have no material impact on the results and the financial position of
the Group.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB R AR MTRE

For the year ended 31 March 2007 #Z_—FZF+F=HA=1—HIFFZ

2. Application of Hong Kong Financial Reporting 2. F#&MEHREERER S BRS
Standards (Continued) (&)
HKAS 1 (Amendment) Capital Disclosures’ BESTENE IR (KE])  BAEE
BASHERE235 (CEF])  BEKA

HKAS 23 (Revised)
HKFRS 7

HKFRS 8
HK(IFRIC)-INT 8
HK(IFRIC)-INT 9
HK(IFRIC)-INT 10

HK(IFRIC)-INT 11

HK(FRIC)-INT 12

Borrowing Costs?

Financial instruments: Disclosures'
Operating Segments?

Scope of HKFRS 23

Reassessment of Embedded
Derivatives*

Interim Financial Reporting and
Impairment®

HKFRS 2 — Group and Treasury Share
Transactions®

Service Concession Arrangements’

BEABHREEANETS
FRHBRELAFSH
&8 (ERMBaERE
Z88) 2RE8H
&k (ARMBRE2E
Z88) 2RER
&k (AR BRE2E
ZES)REFRI0R
ERERMBRERE
REQRES R
&k (BRMBRERE

WIEL B

ﬁ § M/\Z
BAMBMEBERIE2N:
N

EW fTET A
th B iR SR E®
BBMERELERF2,

SELERRHRF
R

RES)REE1R

' Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2007 ' 1200741 A1 BB e AL FE HAR AR
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009 2 F20094F 1 A 1 H Bk LA & /2 HR A Ak
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 May 2006 3 F20064F5 A 1 H Bk LA & 2 HIR A Ak
4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 June 2006 4 F20064F6 A 1 H Bk LA & 2 HIR A Ak
5 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 November 2006 5 2006511 A1 H Bk LAR /S B A2
& Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 March 2007 6 F20074F3 A 1 H Bk LA & Z HIR A Ak
7 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2008 7 FR2008% 1 B 1 BB sk AR & HARI £ K
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Significant Accounting Policies

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under
the historical cost basis except for certain financial instruments,
which are measured at fair values, as explained in the accounting
policies set out below.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued
by the HKICPA and included applicable disclosures required by the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange
(the “Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved
where the Company has the power to govern the financial and
operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its
activities.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year
are included in the consolidated income statement from the effective
date of acquisition or up to the effective date of disposal, as
appropriate.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements
of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in line with those
used by other members of the Group.

All intra-group transactions and balances are eliminated on
consolidation.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment, other than freehold land and
construction in progress, are stated at cost less subsequent
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost of items of property,
plant and equipment other than construction in progress and
freehold land over their estimated useful lives, and after taking into
account their estimated residual value, using the straight line
method.

Freehold land is stated at cost less accumulated impairment losses
and is not depreciated.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB R AR MTRE

For the year ended 31 March 2007 #Z_—FZF+F=HA=1—HIFFZ
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Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Construction in progress represents property, plant and equipment
in the course of construction for production or for its own use
purposes. Construction in progress is carried at cost less any
recognised impairment loss. Construction in progress is classified
to the appropriate category of property, plant and equipment when
completed and ready for intended use. Depreciation of these assets,
on the same basis as other property assets, commences when the
assets are ready for their intended use.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise
from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on
derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference between
the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the item) is
included in the consolidated income statement in the year in which
the item is derecognised.

Prepaid lease payments

Prepaid lease payments, which represent up-front payments to
acquire leasehold land interest, are stated at cost and amortised
over the period of the lease on a straight-line basis.

Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Cost is calculated using the weighted average method.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the balance
sheet when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument. Financial assets and financial liabilities
are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial
liabilities (other than financial assets and financial liabilities at fair
value through profit or loss) are added to or deducted from the fair
value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate,
on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the
acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets

The Group's financial assets are classified as loans and receivables.
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed
or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market.
At each balance sheet date subsequent to initial recognition, loans
and receivables (including trade receivables, bills receivable, other
receivables, amount due from a related company, restricted bank
deposits and bank balances) are carried at amortised cost using the
effective interest method, less any identified impairment losses. An
impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss when there is objective
evidence that the asset is impaired, and is measured as the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the
estimated future cash flows discounted at the original effective
interest rate. Impairment losses are reversed in subsequent periods
when an increase in the asset’s recoverable amount can be related
objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was
recognised, subject to a restriction that the carrying amount of the
asset at the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed what
the amortised cost would have been had the impairment not been
recognised.

Financial liabilities and equity

Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by the Company
are classified according to the substance of the contractual
arrangements entered into and the definitions of a financial liability
and an equity instrument.

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest
in the assets of the Group after deducting all of its liabilities. The
accounting policies adopted in respect of financial liabilities and
equity instruments are set out below.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities (including trade and bills payable, other payables
and bank borrowings) are subsequently measured at amortised cost,
using the effective interest rate method.
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Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 3. EXGFBR &
Financial instruments (Continued) HMHEIE (&)

Financial liabilities and equity (Continued) M aERBEAERS (B)
Convertible bonds A[ R (& 5

Convertible bonds issued by the Company that contain both a
financial liability and conversion option are classified separately on
initial recognition. A conversion option that will be settled by the
exchange of a fixed amount of cash or another financial asset for a
fixed number of the Company’s own equity instruments is classified
as an equity instrument.

On initial recognition, the fair value of the liability component is
determined using the prevailing market interest of similar non-
convertible debts. The difference between the proceeds of the issue
of the convertible bonds and the fair value assigned to the liability
component, representing the embedded call option for the holder
to convert the bonds into equity, is included in equity (convertible
bonds equity reserve).

In subsequent periods, the liability component of the convertible
bonds is carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method.
The equity component, represented by the option to convert the
liability component into ordinary shares of the Company, will remain
in convertible bonds equity reserve until the embedded option is
exercised in which case the balance stated in convertible bonds
equity reserve will be transferred to share premium. Where the
option remains unexercised at the expiry date, the balance stated
in convertible bonds equity reserve will be transferred to
accumulated profits. No gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss
upon conversion or expiration of the option.

Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the convertible bonds
are allocated to the liability and equity components in proportion
to the allocation of the proceeds. Transaction costs relating to the
equity component are charged directly to equity. Transaction costs
relating to the liability component are included in the carrying
amount of the liability portion and amortised over the period of
the convertible bonds using the effective interest method.

Equity instruments
Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.
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Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives that do not qualify for hedge accounting

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date a derivative
contract is entered into and are subsequently remeasured to their
fair value at each balance sheet date. The resulting gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss immediately.

Embedded derivatives

Derivatives embedded in other financial instruments or other host
contracts are treated as separate derivatives when their risks and
characteristics are not closely related to those of the host contracts
and the host contracts are not measured at fair value with changes
in fair value recognised in profit or loss.

Derecognition

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash
flows from the assets expire or, the financial assets are transferred
and the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership of the financial assets. On derecognition of a financial
asset, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the
sum of the consideration received and receivable and the cumulative
gain or loss that had been recognised directly in equity is recognised
in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation specified
in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled or expired. The
difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability
derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is recognised
in profit or loss.

Impairment

At each balance sheet date, the Group reviews the carrying amounts
of its assets to determine whether there is any indication that those
assets have suffered an impairment loss. If the recoverable amount
of an asset is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its recoverable amount.
An impairment loss is recognised as an expense immediately.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset is increased to the revised estimate of its
recoverable amount, to the extent that the increased carrying
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have
been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the
asset in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised
as income immediately.
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Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 3. EXGFBR &
Revenue recognition Y NFERR

Sales of goods are recognised when goods are delivered and title
has passed and are measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable.

Interest income from a financial asset is accrued on a time basis, by
reference to the principal outstanding and at the effective interest
rate applicable, which is the rate that discounts the estimated future
cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to that
asset’s net carrying amount.

Steam income is recognised upon the provision of the steam.

Rental income from properties under operating leases, is recognised
on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease.

Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the
lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

The Group as lessor

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in the
consolidated income statement on a straight-line basis over the
term of the relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating
and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying amount
of the leased asset and recognised as an expense on a straight-line
basis over the lease term.

The Group as lessee

Rentals payable under operating leases are charged to profit or loss
on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Benefits
received and receivable as an incentive to enter into an operating
lease are recognised as a reduction of rental expense over the lease
term on a straight-line basis.
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Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans, state-
managed retirement benefit schemes and the Mandatory Provident
Fund Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) are charged as an expense when
the employees have rendered the services entitling them to the
contributions.

For defined retirement benefit plans, the cost of providing benefits
is determined using the projected unit credit method, with actuarial
valuations being carried out annually. All actuarial gains and losses
of defined benefit plans are recognised immediately in retained
profits in the period in which they occur. Past service cost is
recognised immediately to the extent that the benefits are already
vested, and otherwise is amortised on a straight-line basis over the
average period until the amended benefits become vested.

The amount recognised in the balance sheet represents the fair
value of the plan assets as adjusted for unrecognised actuarial gains
and losses, and as reduced by the present value of the defined
benefit obligation. Any asset resulting from this calculation is limited
to unrecognised actuarial losses and past service cost, plus the
present value of available refunds and reductions in future
contributions to the plan.

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

The Group has applied HKFRS 2 to share options granted on or
after 1 January 2005. In relation to share options granted before 1
January 2005, the Group chose not to apply HKFRS 2 with respect
to share options granted and vested prior to 1 January 2005.

Share options granted and vested prior to 1 January 2005

The Group does not recognise the financial effect of these share
options until they are exercised.

Upon the exercise of the share options, the resulting shares issued
will be recorded by the Company as additional share capital at the
nominal value of the shares, and the excess of the exercise price
per share over the nominal value of the shares will be recorded by
the Company in the share premium account. Options which lapsed
or are cancelled prior to their exercise date are deleted from the
register of outstanding options.
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Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
Equity-settled share-based payment transactions (Continued)
Share options granted and vested on or after 1 January 2005

The fair value of services received determined by reference to the
fair value of share options granted at the grant date is expensed on
a straight-line basis over the vesting period, with a corresponding
increase in equity (share option reserve).

At each balance sheet date, the Group revises its estimates of the
number of options that are expected to ultimately vest. The impact
of the revision of the estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or
loss, with a corresponding adjustment to share option reserve.

At the time when the share options are exercised, the amount
previously recognised in share option reserve will be transferred to
share premium. When the share options are forfeited after the
vesting date or are still not exercised at the expiry date, the amount
previously recognised in share option reserve will be transferred to
accumulated profits.

Borrowing cost

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction
or production of qualifying assets, are capitalised as part of the
cost of those assets. Capitalisation of such borrowing costs ceases
when the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or
sale. Investment income earned on the temporary investment of
specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifing assets
is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.
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Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable
and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from profit as reported in the consolidated
income statement because it excludes items of income or expense
that are taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes
items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for
current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the balance sheet date.

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial
statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit, and is accounted for using the balance
sheet liability method. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised
for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are
recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will
be available against which deductible temporary differences can
be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of other
assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable
profit nor the accounting profit.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each
balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all
or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply
in the period when the liability is settled or the asset is realised.
Deferred tax is charged or credited to profit or loss, except when it
relates to items charged or credited directly to equity, in which case
the deferred tax is also dealt with in equity.
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For the year ended 31 March 2007 #Z_—FZF+F=HA=1—HIFFZ

Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity,
transactions in currencies other than the functional currency of that
entity (“foreign currencies”) are recorded in its functional currency
(i.e. the currency of the primary economic environment in which
the entity operates) at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the
dates of the transactions. At each balance sheet date, monetary
items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the
rates prevailing on the balance sheet date. Non-monetary items
that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency
are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items,
and on the translation of monetary items, are recognised in profit
or loss in the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial statements,
the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign operations are
translated into the presentation currency of the Group (i.e. Hong
Kong dollars) at the rate of exchange prevailing at the balance
sheet date, and their income and expenses are translated at the
average exchange rates for the year, unless exchange rates fluctuate
significantly during the period, in which case, the exchange rates
prevailing at the dates of transactions are used. Exchange differences
arising, if any, are recognised as a separate component of equity
(the translation reserve). Such exchange differences are recognised
in profit or loss in the period in which the foreign operation is
disposed of.

Critical Accounting Judgement and Key
Sources of Estimation Uncertainty

There are no estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk
of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities within the next financial year.

Lee and Man Paper Manufacturing Limited 2006/07 Annual Report
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5. Financial Instruments
(a) Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include trade
receivables, bills receivable, other receivables, amount due from
a related company, derivative financial instruments, restricted
bank deposits, bank balances, trade and bills payable, other
payables, bank overdrafts, bank borrowings and convertible
bonds. Details of these financial instruments are disclosed in
respective notes. The risks associated with these financial
instruments and the policies on how to mitigate these risks
are set out below. Management manages and monitors these
exposures to ensure appropriate measures are implemented
on a timely and effective manner.

Currency risk

The sales transactions of the Group are denominated in HKD,
Renminbi (“RMB") and United States Dollar (“USD"), and there
are purchases of inventories, expenses and acquisition cost of
plant and machinery that required to be settled in HKD, USD,
Japanese Yen (“JPY") and Euro (“EUR"). The Group currently
does not have a foreign currency hedging policy as the directors
consider that the risk is minimal to the Group. However,
management of the Group will monitor foreign exchange
exposure closely and consider the use of hedging instruments
when the need arises. The Group has also acquired various
currency structured instruments for speculative purposes as
disclosed in note 20.

Credlit risk

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in the event of
the counterparties’ failure to perform their obligations as at
31 March 2007 in relation to each class of recognised financial
assets is the carrying amount of those assets as stated in the
consolidated balance sheet. In order to minimise the credit
risk, management of the Group has delegated a team
responsible for determination of credit limits, credit approvals
and other monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up
action is taken to recover overdue debts. In addition,
management of the Group reviews the recoverable amount
of each individual trade debt at each balance sheet date to
ensure that adequate impairment losses are made for
irrecoverable amounts. In this regard, the directors of the
Company consider that the Group’s credit risk is significantly
reduced. The Group has no significant concentration of credit
risk on its trade and bills receivable, with exposure spread
over a number of counterparties and customers.

The credit risk on bank deposits is limited because the
counterparties are banks with good reputation.

MBEIR
(a) FAFEMREEBFREGK

AEEZ FEMBTARERKESK
0 RS B AR IR  FEURE
AIFCR PTAM B T A - ARBIERTITFER
RTTHERR B 5 MBI R HAB MK
B RITEX RITEERABRERES.
ZEM BT AFBERERMERE-T
MEI B2 R TS T E AR 2 Ez N an
MREZEFRR 2 BR-EEBEE N
ERPE R SRR - DARE(R N S G Ut BREX
EE 2 falEe

ERRE R

AEBZHERZABT ARB KX
TRIE A ARREFE BRAXHREE
R Ps M es AT BABTT X7t AT
N BRTT S AN o N 5% (B 2 ey I 48 SO e
R R AR BB IR B A & ) Ba R AN
SEZINERRILEE RN L ERER
S T B - anpfaE20 AT i BR - AN SR B TR
BT TRE%EBIETR FRERE-

1= B /@ 2
WHEF IR -_ETLF=A=1—BXK
TREF AR IASERSED
HRMEEEREAR 2 ZREERBR A
ERGRBEERERIIRZZFTEEL
REE-AEEERREERE AEE
EEEERR—EABRARHFIEER
B EE T R A B e RS
ERBRAE R U BB EIR A 2 (B8 S
AEEEEEN&EGE Bt S R(E
B E 2 REUWGRIR 2 AT S50 LARELR
SN AT UL B S BB I R SR E B 18 o 3L
HME ARFZEEZTRR/AEELZE
B ARFEK - A KB EE T E
WE 5 REKRER 2 EERR BRI
RN EZEEAMM S REF-

AEBZRITERZEERBRAR &
REF T RRIFEEZRIT

49

HEIGEHAMRAST 2006/07 54



50

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BB R AR MTRE

For the year ended 31 March 2007 #Z_—FZF+F=HA=1—HIFFZ

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Interest rate risk

The Group’s fair value and cash flow interest rate risks mainly
related to fixed and variable rates borrowings. The Group’s
bank balances have exposure to cash flow interest rate due to
the fluctuation of the prevailing market interest rate on bank
balances. The directors of the Company consider that the
Group’s exposure of the short term bank deposits and short-
term borrowings to interest rate risk is not significant as interest
bearing bank balances and short-term borrowings are within
short maturity periods. For long-term borrowings, the directors
monitor the Group’s exposure on ongoing basis and consider
obtaining fixed rate borrowings or interest rate swaps to
minimise the cash flow interest rate risk.

Fair values
The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities are
determined as follows:

the fair values of derivative instruments are calculated in
accordance with generally accepted pricing models based
on discounted cash flow analysis as determined by the
financial institution.

ii.  the fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities
(excluding derivative instruments) are determined in
accordance with generally accepted pricing models based
on discounted cash flow analysis using prices from
observable current market transactions.

The directors consider that the carrying amounts of financial
assets and financial liabilities recorded at amortised cost, other
than the convertible bonds, in the consolidated financial
statements approximate their fair values. In the opinion of
the directors, the fair value of the debt component of the
convertible bonds was approximately HK$228,500,000 as at
the balance sheet date.
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Business and Geographical Segments 6. T RitH AR
Business segments E XA
For management purposes, the Group is currently organised into REEMS AERELRLCEMEZRES £FER
two operating businesses - manufacture and sales of paper, and HEA R FEMHERE REEXBRAE
manufacture and sales of pulp. These businesses are the basis on B ERFEFEHEER 2 HEo
which the Group reports its primary segment information.
Segment information about these businesses is presented below: ZERESBER2HRAT:
2007 “EFtE
Consolidated income statement fo= b
Paper Pulp Eliminations Consolidated
i YN iRz e
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FTERT FTERT FiExT
Revenue - External sales WA —E5MEE 4,730,597 429,955 - 5,160,552
Inter-segment sales ik S = 434,349 (434,349) =
4,730,597 864,304 (434,349) 5,160,552
SEGMENT RESULTS TREE 1,046,846 44,143 - 1,090,989
Interest income FEWA 4,136
Net gain arising from change RAiTEMBIAATE
in fair value of derivative M E AR F S
financial instruments 31,103
Unallocated corporate expenses KOBZARIEH (2,758)
Finance costs BATERK AR (82,465)
Profit before taxation BiRT T 1,041,005
Income tax expense MSHF (30,894)
Profit for the year RER A 1,010,111

Inter-segment sales are charged at market value or, where no market
price was available, at terms determined and agreed by both parties.

Ei5 2 FIHEATSEEWEC N8B T5E
18 A TR TE B R B Rk ER -
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6. Business and Geographical Segments (Continued) 6. %% R ihim a8 (&)
Business segments (Continued) EBoE (&)
2007 (Continued) ZETLF (E)
Consolidated balance sheet HEBEEREX
Paper Pulp Consolidated
#R5R VS5 oy
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ET F#Ex FHET
ASSETS aE
Segment assets DEREE 9,343,225 210,338 9,553,563
Unallocated corporate assets ROz AEIEE 291,637
Consolidated total assets REREAE 9,845,200
LIABILITIES aff
Segment liabilities SRAEE 808,922 102,279 911,201
Unallocated corporate liabilities xS A/NCIN =Nt 2,363,298
Consolidated total liabilities ERAR 3,274,499
Other information H & #
Paper Pulp Consolidated
4R VS5 o
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FExT F#&xT
Capital expenditure EARMES H 1,902,717 59,072 1,961,789
Depreciation of property, ENT=
plant and equipment RETE 147,063 4,704 151,767
Loss on disposal of property, HEMZE BE &
plant and equipment RIEEERETE 234 - 234
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Business and Geographical Segments (Continued) 6.

Business segments (Continued)

ETRMIB AR (F)

EBaH (8)

2006 —“EER
Consolidated income statement AR e R
Paper Pulp  Eliminations  Consolidated
4R K7 fil B& o)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR T FAT FHET
Revenue — External sales WA — N EE 3,388,481 389,573 - 3,778,054
Inter-segment sales ik RHE = 424,519 (424,519) =
3,388,481 814,092 (424,519) 3,778,054
SEGMENT RESULTS PECES 622,639 53,007 - 675,646
Interest income FEUWA 1,871
Net gain arising from change ESTEMB T AR TE
in fair value of derivative MR A )T e
financial instruments 23,103
Unallocated corporate expenses ok WA/NT (2,097)
Finance costs B AAN (72,937)
Profit before taxation i A & F 625,586
Income tax expense FEHRS (25,558)
Profit for the year REZ A 600,028

Inter-segment sales are charged at market value or, where no market
price was available, at terms determined and agreed by both parties.

EH5 2 FHEATSEEWE 8B THE
1% #G A TR TE B R B2 IRk U ER -
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6. Business and Geographical Segments (Continued) 6. %R itiEHER (&)

Business segments (Continued)
2006 (Continued)

£%08 (&)
ZEBEINE ()

Consolidated balance sheet e BEREX
Paper Pulp  Consolidated
R Vi SNy
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHIT FHIT FHTT
ASSETS -3
Segment assets DEREE 5,481,565 159,893 5,641,458
Unallocated corporate assets AOEZRNREBE 132,558
Consolidated total assets EBEE 5,774,016
LIABILITIES afs
Segment liabilities HEAE 243,576 125,127 368,703
Unallocated corporate liabilities k- WA/NCIN=N 1,828,269
Consolidated total liabilities REBaE 2,196,972
Other information Hup EH
Paper Pulp  Consolidated
R NHR RE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT T T
Capital expenditure BARMES 1,081,513 52,060 1,133,573
Depreciation of property, I EN
plant and equipment M E 96,862 1,127 97,989
Loss on disposal of property, HEMZE BE &
plant and equipment R E LR ETE 365 - 365

Lee and Man Paper Manufacturing Limited 2006/07 Annual Report



Business and Geographical Segments (Continued) 6. %% Ritg o &8 (&)

Geographical segments Hh 35 43 #B
The following table provides an analysis of the Group’s sales by TREEMRTISE D AEEHEN DT E
geographical market, irrespective of the origin of the goods: P RIE S G R M -

Sales revenue by
geographical market

Rt [E 5
B RISHE RN
2007 2006
—EFEHE ZEERF
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#&ET BT
People’s Republic of China other than A& A RALFNE -
Hong Kong (the “PRC") BABRIN([HE) 2,747,598 2,020,665
Export sales delivered in the PRC R BB AER L A IHE
(Note) (B 5E) 1,575,332 1,338,904
Asia other than the PRC M- RS 589,567 418,485
United States of America =15l 65,514 -
Others Hih 182,541 =
5,160,552 3,778,054
Note: These are sales to PRC customers who ultimately export the goods MieE: EFREMETERKREEREDBSNIHR
outside the PRC. =18
The following is an analysis of the carrying amount of segment REEFEME S TR S EEEREE Y
assets and additions to property, plant and equipment, analysed ¥ BB REEORENT
by the geographical area in which the assets are located:
Carrying amount of Additions to property,
segment assets plant and equipment
SEEERERE W BERRENRE
2007 2006 2007 2006
ZEELE | —TTNF | ZEELE | —TTNF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTiExT FET FTERT FAT
PRC S 9,330,786 5,497,107 1,902,495 1,072,715
Hong Kong B 12,439 11,987 222 8,856
United States of America E3E 210,338 132,364 59,072 52,002
9,553,563 5,641,458 1,961,789 1,133,573
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7. Finance Costs 7. HABHEA
2007 2006
—EEtE ZTTREF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FH&ET T
Interest on bank borrowings wholly repayable RAFNEHREREZ
within five years RITEEF S 82,446 56,496
Interest on convertible bonds AR ES E A 2 F B 45,771 12,712
Other finance costs HAb B TSR 2,406 3,729
Total borrowing costs BIEER A 130,623 72,937
Less: amounts capitalised in construction in progress ~ JiiZ: A2 LR E AN &5 (48,158) -
82,465 72,937
Borrowing costs capitalised during the year arose on the general FABNME 2 BERARTTR—REEREE
borrowing pool and are calculated by applying a capitalisation rate WAEBEREERY 2 ERNMELEE2.1% (=
of 2.1% (2006: Nil) to expenditures on qualifying assets. TTRE:T)HE-
8. Income Tax Expense 8. FIFEBRAX
2007 2006
—EEtHE ZTTREF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET T
The charge comprises: IR B1E:
PRC Foreign Enterprise Income Tax PESME RS 24,912 15,715
Deferred taxation (note 24) EERIE (FiEE24) 5,982 9,843
30,894 25,558
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Income Tax Expense (Continued)

The Group’s profit is subject to taxation from the place of its
operations where its profit is generated. Taxation is calculated at
the rates prevailing in the relevant jurisdictions as set out below.

The subsidiaries in the PRC, other than Dongguan Lee & Man Paper
Factory Co., Limited (“Dongguan Lee & Man") are entitled to
exemption from PRC Foreign Enterprise Income Tax for the two
years starting from its first profit-making year, followed by a 50%
relief for the three years thereafter (“Tax Holiday").

During the year ended 31 March 2006, the Tax Holiday of Dongguan
Lee & Man expired and Dongguan Lee & Man is subject to PRC
Foreign Enterprise Income Tax starting from January 2006. However
Dongguan Lee & Man is entitled to pay enterprise income tax at
18% because approval had been obtained from the PRC tax
authority during the year ended 31 March 2005.

Pursuant to the PRC Enterprise Income Tax Law passed by the Tenth
National People’s Congress on 16 March 2007, the new PRC
Enterprise Income Tax rates for domestic and foreign enterprises
are unified at 25% effective from 1 January 2008. Foreign
enterprises which are entitled to special incentives will be given
concessions throughout a 5-year transition period, if applicable.
Management has assessed the impact of this change in tax law on
the Group’s results of operations and financial position.

The subsidiary in Malaysia carries on offshore trading activities in
Labaun, with other group companies which are non-residents of
Malaysia. As such, it is qualified as an offshore trading company in
Labaun and is charged at a fixed annual rate of Malaysian
RM20,000.

A Macau company incorporated under Decree-Law no. 58/99/M
(“58/99/M Company”) is exempted from Macau complementary
tax (Macau income tax) as long as the 58/99/M Company does not
sell its products to a Macau resident.
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8. Income Tax Expense (Continued) 8. FIBEHBREX @)
The income tax expense can be reconciled to the profit before RNEERFET S EARIRGRE RN R
taxation per the consolidated income statement as follows: FHBRLAT -
2007 2006
:$$t$ —=F; \£|E
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FHIT
Profit before taxation BRI RN 2 A 1,041,005 625,586
Tax at the applicable tax rate of 18% (2006: 15%)  1Z@EMAFKL18% (ZZTZ/RF:
15%) 5T E AR 187,381 93,838

Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax purpose AR 31F H) % H AR 7554 19,731 8,760
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax purpose AR A TR IS 2 (11,119) (10,590)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised RERHIEBENHIETE 2,141 1,653
Utilisation of tax losses previously not recognised &) %HlJﬂiﬁg’ ISR - (700)
Effect of tax exemption for PRC subsidiaries BB R R AR E (48,447) (13,881)
Effect of tax exemption granted to Macau and PR PK@EEMT%’R 7]

Malaysia subsidiaries R ETN 2 (128,919) (55,066)
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries AR EERE R &R

operating in other jurisdictions MEABER TR ENZE (3,015) 1,544
Increase in deferred tax liability resulting T F=ARTELBE

from change in tax rate enacted ZHEYETHERARZ

in March 2007 of certain subsidiaries FEET B A EIL 13,141 -
Income tax expense FISHFEX 30,894 25,558
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PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 9. FEZEF
2007 2006
—ETtE ZEETR
HK$'000 HK$'000
FH&ET FAT
Profit for the year has been arrived at after charging: &) FlI A1k
Directors’ emoluments (note 10) FEME (FIFE10) 7,603 5,174
Other staff salaries and other benefits, Hh 8 TR
excluding those of directors 244,759 188,047
Share-based payment expense, LARRIESZ 1 2 RS2
excluding those of directors 4,807 1,049
Contributions to retirement benefit schemes, RAAEET B
excluding those of directors 11,476 22,530
Total employee benefits expense B TR AL 268,645 216,800
Amortisation of prepaid lease payments SEUNEiE -G OE: 3,099 3,844
Auditors’ remuneration ZEREM N & 2,117 1,537
Cost of inventories recognised as expenses FERAER A 3,799,101 2,903,880
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment M BB REEITE 151,767 97,989
Loss on disposal of property, HEWIZ BB K
plant and equipment R EERETE 234 365
Operating lease rentals in respect of land TH REFREERE
and buildings e 9,335 10,251
and after crediting: WEFTA:
Interest income FLEMA 4,136 1,871
Net foreign exchange gain FRIE 1S5 44,555 38,590
Net gain arising from change in fair value ROTHEF BT AR THEZE)
of derivative financial instruments FTEA 2 550 31,103 23,103
Rental income WA 390 390
Steam income ERUMA 4,681 1,560
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10. Directors’ Emoluments 10. EE#E
The emoluments paid or payable to each of the nine (2006: nine) =BG SR EMNLIUEE (B NF9)
directors were as follows: ST :
Other emoluments
HivME
Contributions  Performance

Salaries to retirement related  Share-based

and other benefit incentive payment

Fees benefits schemes  payments expense
HER RIVER  BHERZ i 0E Total
g Hit g AR A EN k3 &t

HK$000  HK$'000  HK§'000  HK$'000  HK§'000  HK$'000
Thr Thr Thr TR TR TR

Year ended 31March 2007 —35tEZR=t+-HZEE

Executive directors HITEE

Lee Wan Keung Patrick TiER - - - - - -

Lee Man Chun Raymond £ - 2,016 12 - 552 2,580

Lee Man Bun 308 - 1,002 12 - 337 1,351

Tan Siak Him Alexander 558 - 1,066 - - 674 1,740

LiKing Wai Ross Tt - 678 12 - 503 1,193

Non-executive director FNTEE

Poon Chung Kwong R - - - - 539 539

Independent non-executive directors BV TES

Wong Kai Tung Tony THE 80 - - - - 80

Heng Kwoo Seng AR 120 - - - - 120

Law Kar Shui Elizabeth ExiE - - - - - -
200 4,762 36 - 2,605 7,603

Year ended 31 March 2006 “EEREZACT-AER

Executive directors HITEE

Lee Wan Keung Patrick gy - - - - - -

Lee Man Chun Raymond E3¢ - 1,976 12 - - 1,988

Lee Man Bun 308 - 740 12 15 - 767

Tan Siak Him Alexander 553 - 1,046 - 41 - 1,087

Li King Wai Ross B - 576 12 20 524 1,132

Non-executive director HHTES

Poon Chung Kwong Ve - - - - - -

Independent non-executive directors BV FHTES

Wong Kai Tung Tony TRRE 80 - - - - 80

Heng Kwoo Seng ey 120 - - - - 120

Law Kar Shui Elizabeth e - - - - - -
200 4,338 36 76 524 5174
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10. Directors’ Emoluments (Continued) 10. EEME (&)
In the two years ended 31 March 2007, no emoluments were paid HE_ZTZ+F=-A=1+—HZMFN K&
by the Group to the directors as an inducement to join or upon B A 52 (B T EF oA E AR
joining the Group or as a compensation for loss of office. None of IMASBESER/RIERMAE L FEEM
the directors has waived any emoluments during the two years. FAEEESHEMS -
Performance related incentive payments were determined with BRARA A ZIB RIS E 2 EiE
reference to the Group’s operating results, individual performances B BEARR RS TISME T B R mERE
and comparable market statistics.
11. Employees’ Emoluments 1. BEME
Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the Group, AEBEGEME 2 ANA T ER =0 (=F
three (2006: three) were directors of the Company whose TREF: =) BARREEMEMESE R Lt
emoluments are disclosed in note 10 above. The emoluments of FI0EIRTE - AWM A T (ZETRF:2)
the remaining two (2006: two) individuals were as follows: BT
2007 2006
—EEtLE ZETRF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHTT
Salaries and other benefits e R H MR 3,459 1,993
Contributions to retirement benefits schemes  EARAEF|5TEIEFK 24 17
Performance related incentive payments BERIR 2 TR - 38
Share-based payment expenses AR RS 761 1,049
4,244 3,097
The emoluments were within the following bands: B F 5485l
Number
A
2007 2006
—_EFLF —EERF
HK$1,000,001 to HK$ 1,500,000 1,000,0017%7C— 1,500,00078 7T 1 1
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,001% 7T —2,500,00078 7T - 1
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,500,001,% 7T — 3,000,000/ 7T 1 -
2 2
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12. Dividend 12. B2
2007 2006
—EEtE ZETRF
HK$'000 HK$'000
Fi#ExT T
Dividends recognised as distribution: 2R Z A% B O EILAT :
2006 final dividend of HK$0.24 “ETRFIRERPRE
(2005 final: HK$0.18) BR0.24B T (ZTTRHF
R EA:0.187T) 233,294 173,409
2007 interim dividend of HK$0.16 ZETLFIRERHRE
(2006 interim: Nil) HRR0.1678T
(ZZTRFPH:|) 162,247 -
395,541 173,409
A final dividend of HK$0.20 (2006: HK$0.24) per share has been EFeEBRNREBREENR0.20ET (==
proposed by the board of directors of the Company and is subject TNF:0.24 77T BRI IE FEE AR R A
to approval by the shareholders in the forthcoming annual general FRG LELBOER T AIEE -

meeting.

62

Lee and Man Paper Manufacturing Limited 2006/07 Annual Report




13. Earnings Per Share

The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share
attributable to the equity holders of the Company is based on the

following data:

13. BREF
FARAEDFHE ANSRERREERF
TIATHIBUR RELET R

2007 2006
—EFtF ZEETRF
HK$'000 HK$'000
TFHET FHTT
Profit for the year attributable to equity holders A EI#EzSHH A KIFE R FE
of the Company 1,010,204 600,028
Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares: TEREEE e E.
— Interest on convertible bonds *—Hﬁﬂxﬁ%ﬂ 45,771 =
— Gain on change in fair value of derivatives ——Hﬁﬂxffﬁlﬁ PTETHE
embedded in the convertible bonds NEEEFHEEANSS (1,197) -
1,054,778 600,028
2007 2006
—EFtF ZEERF
Number of Number of
Shares Shares
B8 HE g
Weighted average number of ordinary shares FALA u-‘— L GARE AT
for the purpose of basic earnings per share E’] Hﬁﬂﬂ%iﬁ%ﬂ( 1,003,067,042 963,981,063
Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares: REBEES R
— Share options —,@ﬁﬂxﬁﬁ 1,497,334 1,730,267
— Convertible bonds — AR &S 65,731,279 =
Weighted average number of ordinary shares AT E GRESER T
for the purpose of diluted earnings per share K B D 15 2K 1,070,295,655 965,711,330

The diluted earnings per share for the year ended 31 March 2006
did not take into account the effect of the convertible bonds because

they were anti-dilutive for that year.

AR AT (E S BB R BB R FTIA
BE_ZTRF=A=+—RZE8REER
NI E|E B AR ESFH T E -
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14. Property, Plant and Equipment 14. W% BB RHR
Furniture,
fixtures &  Leasehold
equipment improve- Plant &
Freehold Land Construction ~ Computer B ments Motor  machinery
Mk AFE Buildings in progress System BEkE BENE vehicles BER Total
BRI BF EEIR BRR4 R B3 RE W& ey

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR THL TATL TATL T TR THL TATL TATL

cosT A
At 1 April 2005 I ik

mA—HA - 474,204 81,050 - 19,546 86,840 13343 2,053,224 2,728,227
Currency realignment ~ EMEHAA = 9,036 1,656 - 361 1,836 27 39,468 52,584
Additions AE 10,309 70,340 975,578 338 6,945 7,208 9,303 53552 1,133,573
Transfers £3 - 288 (24,458) 13,944 76 - 88 10,062 -
Disposals HE - - - = = - (314) (6,378) (6,692)
At 31 March 2006 —ZERE

ZA=t-H 10,309 553,888 1,033,826 14,282 26,928 95,884 22647 2149928 3,907,692
Currency realignment ~ EHEHEA - 21,267 40,564 571 913 3,623 605 85,513 153,056
Additions HE - 70,241 1,188,108 - 10,575 16,307 7,698 668860 1,961,789
Transfers @3 = 339404 (1,531,784) - 5,517 86,706 - 1,100,157 -
Disposals HE - - - - (59) - (195) (317) (571)
At 31 March 2007 “TEtE

ZB=t-H 10309 984,800 730,714 14,853 43,874 202,520 30755 4004141 6,021,966
DEPRECIATION nE
At 1 April 2005 “ZZTF

MA—A - 56,089 - - 5,368 3813 5,947 159,234 230,451
Currency realignment ~ EHEHEA - 1,155 - - 109 73 9% 3,060 4,493
Provided for the year FREE - 22,235 - 119 3,760 4,903 2,721 64,251 97,989
Eliminated on disposals (L& ¥ - - - - - - (144) (97) (241)
At 31 March 2006 —ZERE

=A=1-A - 79,479 - 119 9,237 8,789 8,620 226,448 332,692
Currency realignment ~ EHEHES - 3,168 - 33 310 346 M 9,036 13,165
Provided for the year FrEE - 34213 - 1,457 5,549 8,583 4,138 97,827 151,767
Eliminated on disposals i EB4§ - - - - (19) - (194) (65) (278)
At 31 March 2007 i

=A=1-A = 116,860 = 1,609 15,077 17,718 12,836 333,246 497,346
CARRYING VALUE REE
At 31 March 2007 “TEtE

ZB=t-H 10309 867,940 730,714 13,244 28,797 184,802 17919 3,670,895 5,524,620
At 31 March 2006 —EERE

ZB=t-H 10309 474409 1,033,826 14,163 17,691 87,095 14027 1,923480 3,575,000
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14. Property, Plant and Equipment (Continued)

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost of items of property,
plant and equipment other than construction in progress and
freehold land over their estimated useful lives and after taking into
account of their estimated residual value, using the straight-line
method, at the following rates per annum:

Buildings 5%
Computer System 20%
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 20%
Leasehold improvements 5% - 15%
Motor vehicles 20%

Plant and machinery 3'3% — 20%
Freehold land is not depreciated.

The carrying value of land and buildings of the Group comprises:

14. WME--BERRE (&)

FRER TR FOK AR LIIN W5 BRE I
wim MIETRBREER RIET A RFERNE
RORRTERAT B AMGERAS SR

B¥F 5%
BIKER 20%
BRI BEEE K& 20%
HEMEEE 5% — 15%
B 20%
R B K as 3% - 20%

POKA RSB 2 LIAMETE-

AEEZ T PR EYREERE:

2007 2006

—EFLHF TEBERF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHT FAT

Freehold land in the United States of America RZEE 7k A RS T 10,309 10,309

Building on freehold land in MEBI LUK A R B

the United States of America T BT 17,135 17,593
Building on land under medium-term lease ~ FAFREI A —IEFR HATH S FR4Y

in the PRC Tih F 2T 850,805 456,816

878,249 484,718

Certain buildings of the Group are erected on land in the PRC with
respect to which the Group had not been granted formal title of
ownership. At 31 March 2007, the net book value of such buildings
amounted to HK$377,174,000 (2006: HK$171,000). In the opinion
of directors, the absence of formal title does not impair the value
of the relevant buildings. The directors also believe that formal title
of these building will be granted to the Group in due course.

EEEE TEFERDAR TEB L HFER
BEEABEAEZ TR PN BT F=
A=+—H &ZSEF2REFER377.28
BB (ZTTNE:171,00087T) - EER
BT EXEERT T2 EEEEEEET
BE EFMEEETABRERSHIR T%
EEF 2 EREERE
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For the year ended 31 March 2007 #Z_—FZF+F=HA=1—HIFFZ

15. Prepaid Lease Payments 15
The Group's prepaid lease payments comprise leasehold land held
under medium-term leases in the PRC.

EHEENE
AEERNEEFREEES B RHELD
T2 tuiEE:

2007 2006
—EEtLE ZEERF
HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT FAT

Analysed for reporting purposes as: R g imtEZ D4
Non-current asset EMBEE 316,831 176,441
Current asset MEEE 14,982 3,850
331,813 180,291

As at 31 March 2007, the carrying value of land use rights in respect
of which the Group had not been granted formal title of ownership
amounted to approximately HK$222 million (2006: HK$110 million).
In the opinion of the directors, the absence of formal title to these
land use rights does not impair the value of the relevant properties
to the Group. The directors also believe that formal title to these
land use rights will be granted to the Group in due course.

16. Deposits Paid for Acquisition of Property, Plant  16.

and Equipment and Land Use Rights

The deposits were paid by the Group in connection with the
acquisition of property, plant and equipment and land use rights
for new production facilities. The related capital commitments are
included in note 30.

R=ZEHE=A=+—A KELRETE
A LHE A 2 BREENA222E 8
BIL(CEEREN0EEET) E2RA
R L T (s R E N AT T2 1EE
SEREMEEE EBMEEETABRE
EeRTzE I imERREESRE.

BEWME BB R R L itiE g
BHEA

PR & R ARE R THEEREMBEERN
W B KR i Rt E AR £ B
HYBAE GBI HRES0

17. Inventories 17. &
2007 2006
ZEZLHF TETRE
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ET FA&TT
Raw materials R 1,247,715 663,605
Finished goods B o 131,444 110,654
1,379,159 774,259
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18. Trade Receivables And Bills Receivable 18. FEWE 5 R REW RN
The Group generally allows an average credit period range from 45 REFEGETEPOEER—MRA458E608
to 60 days. T
An aging analysis of the trade receivables and bills receivable is as FEWE 5 BR N R B SR BRER D AT AR T
follows:
2007 2006
—_EFLF —ERRF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FER FAT
Trade receivables FEWE BRI 819,383 676,364
Bills receivable L ES 261,239 130,753
1,080,622 807,117
Aged: BRAR :
Less than 30 days DRR30H 769,135 467,520
— 60 days 31H — 60H 217,302 187,184
—90 days 61H — 90H 72,979 104,210
Over 90 days 90H A 21,206 48,203
1,080,622 807,117
As at 31 March 2007, bills receivable of HK$55,751,000 (2006: R-ZEZ+F=H=+—H"55,751,00087T
HK$49,313,000) were pledged to secure banking facilities granted (ZZZ/55:49,313,000/87T) 7 FEEZRE
to the Group. IR DAES IR TIE B/ e
19. Amount Due from a Related Company 19. BRERERBRE

The amount represents a trading balance due from Lee & Man B RA77E 2 Lee & Man Industrial Manufacturing
Industrial Manufacturing Limited (“Lee & Man Industrial Limited ([FEXEZE ) BB ZAER TR E 2R
Manufacturing”) which is beneficially owned by Mr Lee Wan Keung EnlEA ABNAREETERL Ao
Patrick, a director of the Company.

B AERR EF B RN —FREE &N
TH 15 M AR AR PR30 H ©

The amount is unsecured, interest-free and repayable within one
year. The amount for both years is aged less than 30 days.
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20. Derivative Financial Instruments 20. ITEMBIA
2007 2006
ZFFLF TEERF
Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities
BE af& BE =L

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FT#xT FT#ExT TAT TAT

Currency structured instruments ~ S##8 4% T B (Pt %)

(note i) 42,310 (3,789) 1,131 (828)
Interest rate swap (note ii) A= 42 2R (B8 = (8,312) — —
Derivatives embedded in the AMRESFNSITETR

convertible bonds (note i) (B =iii) — (3) — (1,200)

42,310 (12,104) 1,131 (2,028)
(i) Currency Structured Instruments () E¥&BIR
Major terms of the currency structured instruments are as BRI AT ZGT:
follows:
National amount Currency conversion
Bae® Ekumia
22 contracts to buy a total of USD44,000,000 USD/HKD
2B EHEEAL,4008E T Et/ BT
7 contracts to buy a total of EUR7,100,000 EUR/USD
TREBHEETI08RT BT, ZET
4 contracts to buy a total of GBP2,850,000 GBP/USD
APE NI E 285 E RS g ET
5 contracts to buy a total of JPY2,582,400,000 JPY/USD
5pA I E 2582408 BT BT &7t
All the above contracts will mature within 1 to 15 months. NEFBEEHABR—2+TAEARNE
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20. Derivative Financial Instruments (Continued) 20. &I A (&)

(ii) Interest rate swap (i) FlZ=aHg
Major terms of the interest rate swap are as follows: 2= e HA I B (SR 0T
National amount Maturity Swap
BaE%H ZHE = HA
HK$500,000,000 24 March 2011 HIBOR for 4.80%
5008 &A7T —T—F=R=+mA BT *EA4.80%
(iii) Derivatives embedded in the convertible bonds (i) IEBEESENETAELR
2007 2006
—EEtEHE ZEERF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FHT
Fair value at the beginning of the year  F#]2 A E 1, 200 24,000
Changes in fair value NFEEE) (1,197) (22,800)
Fair value at the end of the year FR 72 NE 3 1,200
This derivative represents the early redemption right of the IITERKREEN AR ES 2 E5F
bond holders in respect of the Group’s convertible bonds. The BAFIRTE R IBEVER A ELAEN
fair value was calculated using the Black-Scholes Model. The R-ATRATEX G E A EF LR
valuation of fair value was carried out by Sallmanns (Far East) P9 (RR) AR AR BA— BT
Limited, an independent valuer not connected with the Group. HE - HEANEEWEEE-FA-
The change in fair value of HK$1,197,000 (2006: 1,197,000/ 7T (=== 754 : 22,800,000
HK$22,800,000) has been recognised in the consolidated BIT) ZAFEEEBE RS BEERA
income statement for the year. R
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21.

22.

Restricted Bank Deposits and Bank Balances
and Cash

The restricted bank deposits represent amount placed in specific
bank accounts to secure deferred payment of custom duties to the
PRC government. Deposits amounting to HK$ 1,953,000 (2006:
HK$1,154,000) are matured within one year from the balance sheet
date and are therefore classified as current assets.

The restricted bank deposits carried fixed interest rate of 0.72%
(2006: 3.0%) per annum. Bank balances carried fixed interest rates
ranging from 3.57% to 4.25% (2006: 2.5% to 3.25%) per annum.

Trade and Bills Payable

Trade and bills payable principally comprise amounts outstanding
for trade purchases and ongoing costs. The average credit period
taken for trade purchases range from 30 to 60 days.

An aged analysis of the trade and bills payable is as follows:

21.

22.

BRFSRITERARRITEGRRRE

BRHIRITF I BIRERLERET S T
BB MAF A5 TE SR TP D MR IA -2 4
HAR—FARH 2175k 41,953,000% 7T
(ZZZ N4 :1,154,000/87T) W AEt AynEh

BRHBRITEREEEEFEE0.72% (=
TERF:3.0%) - MIRTEABRTEETFS
KRM3.57%54.25% (ZEEF:2.5%
%3.25%)

FE1TERFN R R
EMEANEREEOIEE FEE RFER
SRAZ ARG EE-E ZEE 2 FHREREAR
30E60H -

FENERR MR R DM A0 T

2007 2006
—_EFtHF ZEETRF
HK$'000 HK$'000
T#ET FAIT

Aged: BRER
Less than 30 days DHR30H 465,392 155,877
31 -60 days 31H — 60H 28,592 7,991
61 —90 days 61H — 90H 8,849 5,074
Over 90 days 90H M £ 7,621 747
510,454 169,689
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23. Bank Borrowings

23. RiTEE

2007 2006
—ETtE ZETRF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FHTT
Bank loans RITER 2,003,198 617,413
Bank import loans RITEAERK 65,119 264,694
Bank overdraft HRITBEX 12,045 504
2,080,362 882,611
Analysed as: DT
Secured SR 55,751 49,313
Unsecured ESitg 2,024,611 833,298
2,080,362 882,611
The bank borrowings are repayable as follows:  JZENERITEEREREAWT:
Within one year or on demand —FAREERER 824,762 782,611
More than one year, but BB —FEDAMRE
not exceeding two years 105,600 100,000
More than two years, but R E DR EE
not more than five years 1,150,000 -
2,080,362 882,611
Less: Amount due within one year shown B ARY AR A ER
under current liabilities —FRER|EIFIE (824,762) (782,611)
Amount due after one year —F &5 HAFIE 1,255,600 100,000

The Group’s bank borrowings include HK$16,621,000 (2006: AEBIRITEERE16,621,00087T
HK$49,313,000) fixed-rate borrowings which carried interest at (ZZTZ;N4:49,313,000) FEHK324%
3.24% per annum (2006: 2.0% to 3.2% per annum) and EEEBE(CEERF FEE2.0%—3.2%
HK$2,063,741,000 (2006: HK$833,298,000) variable-rate %) }%2,063,741,000870 (ZZTEEZ X
borrowings which carry interest ranging from HIBOR plus 0.6% to £:833,298,000/70) Z N EBMEE F 8
HIBOR plus 0.75% (2006: ranging from HIBOR plus 0.7% to HIBOR EKRBTHEME. 6% FE0.75% TF
plus 0.9%) per annum. (ZZEZTRNF HBTHEME07%ZE0.9%
TEE) o
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23. SRITEE (@)
KREBAEEZINEEEIN REBZEEE

23. Bank Borrowings (Continued)
The Group’s borrowings denominated in the currencies other than

the functional currency of the respective entity are set out below: HHENT:
2007 2006
—EFTLE ZETREF
HK$'000 HK$’'000
TER T
Hong Kong Dollars BT 320,000 325,000

24, 24. IREHIR
TRAIREEHBAEMEERRREE

B RBERE N 2

Deferred Tax
The following are the major deferred tax liabilities and assets
recognised and movement thereon during the current and prior
reporting periods.

Accelerated tax

depreciation Tax losses Total
EHEBIERE HIAEGE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T BT T
At 1 April 2005 —EERFMA—H 9,151 (8,860) 291
Exchange realignment fENEHEE 176 - 176
Charge (credit) to consolidated & AR4RA WS8R GTA)
income statement for the year 20,939 (11,096) 9,843
At 31 March 2006 —EEREF=A=+—H 30,266 (19,956) 10,310
Exchange realignment EREMES (1,067) = (1,067)
Charge (credit) to consolidated F ARA%RE Wz BR B (FEA)
income statement for the year 17,733 (11,751) 5,982
At 31 March 2007 “ZETHF=A=+—H 46,932 (31,707) 15,225

For the purpose of balance sheet presentation, certain deferred tax
assets and liabilities have been offset. The following is the analysis

RRAFEEABREZRAEN ETREHEE
ENBEDEH TRABEMFEHREENZ

of the deferred tax balances for financial reporting purposes: RIETH IR A BRI AT -

2007 2006
—TTLE ZETXR

HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHTT
Deferred tax liabilities BEEHIRBIE 46,932 30,266
Deferred tax assets REFIBE E (31,707) (19,956)
15,225 10,310
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24,

25.

Deferred Tax (Continued)

At 31 March 2007, the Group had unused tax losses of
approximately HK$129,270,000 (2006: HK$77,865,000) available
for offset against future profits. A deferred tax asset has been
recognised in respect of approximately HK$105,690,000 (2006:
HK$66,520,000) of such losses. No deferred tax asset has been
recognised for the remaining HK$23,580,000 (2006:
HK$11,345,000) due to the unpredictability of future profit streams.

At 31 March 2007, of the above tax losses, an amount of
HK$105,690,000 (2006: HK$66,520,000) can be carried forward
for twenty years following the loss year. The other balances may be
carried forward indefinitely.

Convertible Bonds

24. IRERIE (&)

R-EE+F=A=1+—H AEEHASH
BR] B{ER AR R R R AT 2 BRIBESIENR
129,270,000/ 7T (ZZ = 754 : 77,865,000/
JT) o EL R B2 BB RERR 7 49105,690,000745 7T
(ZZE/4F 166,520,000/ 7T) ZIEERIEE
E-BARARRABFZRATAEA 2T
23,580,000/ 7T (ZZFZ /54 1 11,345,000/
TL) Z R B RIRIE T IR A

R-BZ+F=A=+—H L ZFIBEE
105,690,000/ 7T (ZZFZ 734 166,520,000/
J0) A A IB R AT — - F it
AR A4S

25. WG ES

2007 2006
ZEFLHF —“EEREF
HK$'000 HK$'000
T#xT T
Liability component: BEERD -
Carrying value at the beginning of the year FY 2z RAE 901,006 =
Issue of convertible bonds BT AR E S 914,000
Less: Y
Arrangement fees FEE - (25,706)
Conversion Wi (741,413) —
Add: n:
Imputed interest 2 45,771 12,712
Carrying value at end of the year FHR 2 BREE 205,364 901,006

On 13 January 2006, the Company issued HK$1,000 million zero

coupon convertible bonds due in 2011 (the “2011 Bonds”). They
are convertible, at the option of their holders, into ordinary shares
of HK$0.10 each in the Company at a conversion price of HK$12.04
per share at any time on or after 28 January 2006 up to and including
6 January 2011.

R-ZFEXRF—A+T=R ARQFETI0EE
T ERBAMRES —T——F3H (=

—F(EH]) EHFARBIFEAZEE B
ERE12. 4B TR T F—HA=1+/\H
R BEZT——F— A/ B I EARREE
AN T EH%0.10/ 7T 2 %o
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25. Convertible Bonds (continued) 25. FlIAREES (&)

74

The 2011 Bonds do not bear interest. Unless partially redeemed,
converted or purchased and cancelled before maturity, the 2011
Bonds will be redeemed by the Company at 124.92% of their
principal amount on 13 January 2011. The 2011 Bonds may be
redeemed at the option of the relevant holder on 13 January 2008
at 109.31% of the principal amount. On or after 13 January 2008,
the Company has the option to redeem all of the entire remaining
amount of the 2011 Bonds, at any time prior to their maturity, at
an amount stipulated in the terms of the 2011 Bonds, when any of
the following conditions are satisfied (i) the closing market price of
the Company’s shares for any 30 consecutive trading days, prior to
the date on which the notice of redemption is given was at least
130% of the redemption price of each share; or (i) at least 90% of
the principal amount of the 2011 Bonds has already been converted,
redeemed or purchased and cancelled. The value of this derivative
is considered immaterial.

As at 31 March 2007, the 2011 Bonds with a principal amount of
HK$795,289,000 (2006: Nil) had been converted into ordinary
shares of the Company.

The valuation of the 2011 Bonds was carried out by Sallmanns (Far
East) Limited. For accounting purpose the 2011 Bonds are split into
three components; derivative financial instruments, liability and
equity. The equity element is presented “convertible bonds equity
reserve” under equity and the early redemption rights are presented
as derivative financial instruments as detailed in note 20. The
effective interest rate of the liability component is 6.84%.
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ZE——F R BIRESI R S FRIEE R HR
HATED BB iRk B B Rkl — 5 —
—EAMRESEN —_E——F—A+=H
AR £ 2124.92% AR RIFE Rl fE AR S
ARBERET  —F——F ] BRESATER =
T N\F—F+=HUAKRE2109.31%HE [0
E-ZT N\F—F+=Haz% KRR
AR AR AR S ——F IIRRE
FIERATEE 2 S FEIR R BRI A SR A
FFE LA TR — & () N2 Rk EE4E30
&2 5 B KU TE - A3 R ERBART & A
EFRIDIBRIERZ130% ; Bi(i) —Z——&F
AIMRESAE 2 & D90% 2 8 EE - fE
BT ARRRABUITETAZEET

=]
= °

HE—_ZZEZ+HE=A=+—BIt' &
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Rnn N B HRIEREN T 25 2001 £ 5
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26. Retirement Benefits Plans

0}

Plans for Hong Kong employees

Defined benefit plan

The Group is a member of a defined benefit plan which was
open to qualified employees of companies under the control
of Fortune Star Trading Ltd. (“Fortune Star”). Fortune Star
and the Company are under the control of the same
discretionary trust, the discretionary beneficiaries of which
include Mr Lee Wan Keung, Patrick, Mr Lee Man Chun,
Raymond and Mr Lee Man Bun, all of whom are directors of
the Company. In December 2000, all the then existing
members of the defined benefit plan were enrolled into a
MPF Scheme and their accrued benefits for the past services
under the defined benefit plan were frozen as at 30 November
2000. The defined benefit plan was closed to new employees
from December 2000 onwards.

Under the defined benefit plan, employees are entitled to
retirement benefits varying between 0% and 100% of their
final salary as at 30 November 2000 multiplied by the
pensionable service up to 30 November 2000 on attainment
of a retirement age of 55. No other post-retirement benefits
are provided.

The most recent actuarial valuation of the plan assets and the
present value of the defined benefit obligation was carried
out as at 31 December 2006 by HSBC Life (International)
Limited. The present value of the defined benefit obligation,
the related current service cost and past service cost were
measured using the projected unit credit method.

The main actuarial assumptions used were as follows:

26. BIAFEFIFHE

(i)

AEBEEMR
RE @ T2

AEBR—EARAEEATENKE %
=TEI{Fortune Star Trading Ltd. [Fortune
Star] EHIHARINEEKEESHE
Fortune Star RAATIIX A —BEEE
AT 2R S ARETERL
BB A RESORS & (BES A
ARRES) RZZTZTF+=-A A
EFEFrEIEREK EEAELLH
—IER B &8 MK EERTE =T

=
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SINBLBERE RS REHENR —F
TEF+—A=TH®ERE B _TZ
ZTE+ AR REEMNTE B
ES&EZ-

—

RIEAERATE BEENFEA TR
PRARIR 2 R AT RN R R B FIFEE R
ERN—_EEEF+— A=+ HNRES
SHEE100%ME FUBE—FTZTE
F4+—H=1H LM EFTR RS A R
B AN E BN IR H AR KIE R

HEIEE R RARBRE Y B
RHGE DHERASRR B 4
BRAR R=BTAF+=A=+—A
RISt REFIERIERE BB 2
BRI AR B RS A Ty IR TR
CEITEe g

FrRMERREBRRNT:

31.12.2006 31.3.2005

—EERE ZEERF

+ZRA=+—8 =A=+—H

Discount rate QL3R & 3.75% 4.25%
Expected return on plan assets FTEI & ETEHIE & 5% 5%
Expected rate of salary increases TERRE IR R 0% 0%
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For the year ended 31 March 2007 #Z_—FZF+F=HA=1—HIFFZ

26. Retirement Benefits Plans (Continued)
(i) Plans for Hong Kong employees (Continued) (i)

Defined benefit plan (Continued)
The actuarial valuation showed that the market value of plan
assets at 31 December 2006 was HK$893,000 (31.12.2005:
HK$795,000) and that the actuarial value of these assets
represented 423% (31.12.2005: 545%) of the benefits that
were accrued to members.

The credit recognised in the consolidated income statement
in respect of the defined benefit plan is as follows:

26. BIAEHIESE (&)

AEBEEMR

II }E’fﬂﬂfjﬁf;ij (g)
TEEMEBRNTEEER ST AF+
ZRA=+—H2M{E/&893,000/4T (=
TERF+A=+—H:795 ooo,
T M EEE 2 BEEETIHE R
2Rk B eSS 2 423% (CEZERE=
A=+—H:545%) °

=@ (&)

PR B WERRBFE BT BRI
han T

2007 2006

—_EFELF —EERFE

HK$'000 HK$'000

FH&ET FHET

Interest cost PN #:N 6 5
Expected return on plan assets FTEIEETEHRIR (39 (95)
Actuarial gain recognised in the year FNBEEEER (42) =
Total, included in other income At (Bt AEMEEUA) (75) (90)

The actual return on plan assets for the year was HK$41,000
(2006: HK$94,000).

The amount included in the consolidated balance sheet in
respect of the Group’s retirement benefit assets is as follows:

SEIEERAFERNERDEFRA41,000
BT (ZZZ N :94,000/87T) ©

AEENERRBENEECIIANGEEE
BERNBELT:

2007 2006

ZFFLEF —EERF

HK$'000 HK$'000

F#&T T

Fair value of plan assets SFEIEEAFEE 893 795
Unrecognised actuarial gains REREE YA = (42)
Present value of funded obligations HFIRE (211) (146)
682 607
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26. Retirement Benefits Plans (Continued)

0}

(ii)

26. BRIAEFIHE (&)

Plans for Hong Kong employees (Continued) () AEAEEMBE (&)
Defined benefit plan (Continued) RE@FIETE ()
Movements in the net assets in the year were as follows: BEFERFRNRZSINT:
2007 2006
—ETLE ZETN
HK$'000 HK$'000
TFHET FHTT
At beginning of the year F4) 607 1,320
Release of retirement benefit scheme RORAEAET 2 = (803)
Amounts credited to consolidated STAGRE WK
income statement B EEE 75 90
At end of the year G 682 607
Defined contribution scheme RE HKEE
The Group operates a MPF Scheme for all qualifying REERMASERESRL —IHRE
employees. The assets of the scheme are held separately from wEtElo AN EERANEENEE
those of the Group, in funds under the control of trustees. SRFE UNERBAGTEATENES.
The Group contributes the lower of HK$1,000 or 5% of the AREE 1,000/ T8k A B8 A FHAKANH)
relevant monthly payroll costs to the MPF Scheme. 5% * [Fs&iEEFT ST
Plans for PRC employees (ii) 7= EEE ™R E
The employees employed in the PRC subsidiaries are members R EIFE A R AR E 8192 8 ElIX
of the state-managed retirement benefits schemes operated 5 P Bl R B IR AR AR AIET &l o R

by the PRC government. The PRC subsidiaries are required to
contribute a certain percentage of their payroll to the
retirement benefits schemes to fund the benefits. The only
obligation of the Group with respect to the retirement benefits
schemes is to make the required contributions under the
schemes.

MBARAREEHFENETANLL,
AR AR MET B (E RN Z A o A
KEERABNEHE B EIHER
AR E Rk
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For the year ended 31 March 2007 #Z_—FZF+F=HA=1—HIFFZ

26. Retirement Benefits Plans (Continued) 26. BRIAEFIFTE (2)
(iii) Plans for United States employees (iii) AEBEEE MRS

Defined benefit plan TRIE 18 I ET El
The Group operates a defined benefit pension plan for its REE B E A FIERAFE B AIET
hourly employees in its United States subsidiary. The adoption g TR EE - KMBHA-—ZZ A
date was 30 June 2005. The pension plan is frozen and not FRNA=TH BN EIE RS
accepting new participants. Pension plan benefits are based TENFT2ME BRI EIFZEZ A
primarily on participants’ compensation and years of credited 20 B FREN AT AR BRFS F HAGT & -
service. Contributions to the pension plan are based on RUNET 82 HFRE AR S0 (3R B AR
actuarial calculations of amounts to cover current service costs. AR Z FER SRR AIRE
The main actuarial assumptions used were as follows: FTAREZBE RN T

2007 2006

—ETEtE ZEERF

Discount rate AhIR = 5.95% 5.00%
Expected return on plan assets FrE|EETEHE R 7% 7%
The actuarial valuation showed that the market value of plan BEAERRTEEERN ST LF=
assets at 31 March 2007 was approximately HK$ 107,906,000 A=+—HzmEA&107,906,000/7T
(2006: HK$107,801,000) and that the actuarial value of these —EENF:107,801,0007T)  Mi%
assets represented 93% (2006: 93%) of the benefits that were SEBEZBEBEIEERTEIKEE
accrued to members. BAE293% (ZZFZ/RF:93%) °
The charge recognised in the consolidated income statement iR E R AR A R E R FET S5
in respect of the defined benefit pension plan is as follows: REVBRIAT:

2007 2006

—EEtE ZEEXF
HK$'000 HK$'000
TFHET FHTT

Current service cost A ARIG A A 1,703 1,475
Interest cost F BALA 6,669 4,620
Expected return on plan assets T8I & EBH DR (7,275) (5,561)
Past service cost BERBEKA - 16,905
Total, include in cost of sales BT (BETASHERA) 1,097 17,439
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26. Retirement Benefits Plans (Continued) 26. BIAEFEE (&)

(iii) Plans for the United States employees (Continued) (i) AEEEEMRE (&)
Defined benefit plan (Continued) RE@FIETE ()
The amount included in retirement benefit liabilities in the MEBRNEARGE N eERRENE
year in respect of the retirement benefit pension plan is as BEFIELT :
follows:
2007 2006
—ETtE ZETRF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET

Fair value of plan assets TEIEEATE 107,906 107,801
Unrecognised actuarial gains RERZ FBES = (9.824) (8,829)
Present value of funded obligations HFERE (116,618) (116,411)
At end of the year G (18,536) (17,439)
Defined contribution plan TRIE AT El
The Group also sponsors a 401(k) profit sharing plan for AEEREBNERRRZEEEEL
salaried employees of its subsidiary in the United States. All A0V(KNB&AD =5t Sl FTBEIELERHE
salaried employees of its subsidiary in the United States not AT 2 EZBINE R RZ ZEE A ERE
covered by the collective bargaining agreement are eligible to 20 BllEE&RaATHERERE
participate. The maximum allowable contribution for each W A50%18 5 A BRI A ZE B il o AR 52
employee is 50% of gross wages subject to limitations set by E s ptat e 8 N E3%/EH 100% A0
the Internal Revenue Code. The Group will match 100% of H ZERNESEMRERZ2% - NEE K
the first 3% of employee contributions to the plan through 1#225% e Bl o
salary deferral plus 25% of the next 2% that the employee
defers.
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For the year ended 31 March 2007 #Z_—FZF+F=HA=1—HIFFZ

27. Share Capital 27. BA&
Amount
Number of &8
ordinary shares HK$'000
LEREHE T
Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each HRREE0. 108 LA LA
Authorised: JARE !
At 1 April 2005, 31 March 2006 and —EERFMNA—A
31 March 2007 —EEXFZA=+—HK
—EELF=HA=+—H 2,000,000,000 200,000
Issued and fully paid: BETRAEE:
At 1 April 2005 —EERFIYA—H 963,384,000 96,338
Exercise of share options 1TIEEE R HE 4,224,000 423
At 31 March 2006 —EERF=HA=1+—"H 967,608,000 96,761
Exercise of share options 1T EE AR E 5,816,000 582
Conversion of convertible bonds HIRTTHARE S 66,053,932 6,605
Issue of new shares on placement EBC AR M BT RO FTAR
of shares 80,000,000 8,000
At 31 March 2007 —EE+F=A=1+—H 1,119,477,932 111,948

During the year, 5,516,000 and 300,000 share options under the
Pre-IPO Scheme and the Share Option Scheme (both as defined in
note 28) respectively were exercised at a subscription price of
HK$4.17 and HK$8.50 per share respectively, resulting in the issue
of 5,816,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each in the Company. In
addition, convertible bonds with a principal amount of
HK$795,289,000 were converted into shares at an exercise price
of HK$12.04 resulting in the issue of 66,053,932 ordinary shares
of HK$0.10 each in the Company.

On 29 January 2007, arrangements were made for a private
placement to independent private investors of 80,000,000 shares
of HK$0.10 each in the Company held by Gold Best at a price of
HK$18.50 per share representing a discount of approximately 5%
to the closing market price of the Company’s shares on 24 January
2007. Arrangement fees of HK$20,177,000 was set-off against
share premium.

All the shares issued during the year rank pari passu with the then
existing shares in all respects.
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F H£55,516,000 % HRIE H X AFER
A8 5121 %2 300,000 AE IRIRBE AR e s 214
AR T(E  RBEEABIRANTE TR
8.50/%8 0 BH3£775,816,000 A Q&
BREEC.10B I LB BN AN £ 5
795,289,000/ 7T 2 FI AR B 54 H AR - 1 T{5F
E/512.04%70  BEE1766,053,9328 KA
B IEE0. 1078 T A 3@ AR o

—ETEHF—F -+ NB AARWEHZHEA
MBI FAREE R AR EGold Bestii B 2
XA F]80,000,000/% AL FEI1EO. 1078 7T 2 A%
19 BRRAIEE18.505 0 BRA R RN =Z
S+FE—A=FMHBZ W EITELIS% o
20,177,000/ 7T 2 ZHE & R B R R (E X
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28. Share Option Schemes

Pursuant to the written resolution of the shareholders of the
Company dated 11 September 2003, two share option schemes,
namely Share Option Scheme (the “Scheme”) and Pre-IPO Share
Option Scheme (the “Pre-IPO Scheme”), were approved and
adopted.

The Scheme and the Pre-IPO Scheme were established for the
purpose of providing incentives to directors and eligible persons.
The Scheme and Pre-IPO Scheme will remain in force for a period
of ten years and three years, respectively from adoption of the
schemes. The Scheme will expire on 10 September 2013 and the
Pre-IPO Scheme expired on 10 September 2006.

(i) Share Option Scheme

Under the Scheme, the Board of Directors of the Company
(the “Directors”) may at their discretion grant options to (i)
any director (including executive directors, non-executive
directors and independent non-executive directors) and
employees of the Group in which the Group holds an equity
interest or a subsidiary of such company (“Affiliate”); or (ii)
any advisors, consultants, distributors, contractors, suppliers,
agents, customers, business partners, promoters, service
providers of any member of the Group as may be determined
by the Directors from time to time to subscribe for the shares
of the Company (the “Shares”).

Options granted must be taken up within 28 days of the date
of grant. The maximum number of Shares in respect of which
options may be granted under the Scheme shall not exceed
10% of the issued share capital of the Company at any point
in time. The maximum number of Shares in respect of which
options may be granted to any individual in any 12-month
period shall not exceed 1% of the Shares in issue on the last
date of such 12-month period unless approval of the
shareholders of the Company has been obtained in accordance
with the Listing Rules.

28.

FER TS

BEARRBRRR _ZZ=FNA+—HB&
BEERZR MEBRETS (BIERE
a8l ([%EH8l)) kB R AR ERARERE
g (TERARERATE)) B E KK
e

R ZaTE AR ARERAT S §EREH
BB TEZNAEBRAL ZT8I RBRAH
ERATEBIMA R B ERA B R DRI &
TEE=F LR _F—=FNATH
BNk ERARBEERAFEER TN
FAA+BER

() BERRHESE

RiEZAE ARAEFS ([EFg))
AR BBRER L BRET () A KHE
MWEFES (BRNTES JFTES
MBI IFMTESR) MER ANEERE
PRI A BN R HE AR ([
AR (AR EEAIKE R AT
] BB DR A B R R
B REAEP EBBH HEARR
RIGHER URBARR AN (15X
1)

BEBALTLERRHBHEFS =T
B A AR A - RIBE AR 8IR
BB RS R VAR D 8RB - FE (AT R
RTSHBEARREETTRA10% © k
TR EMAR AR E S AR RIBER
HOHt/E - B BIER A TEE1 218 A 5
B R IR FT S R M D S B
B TS L1208 A BE&E—
BARRIEHTRINHI1%
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28. Share Option Schemes (Continued)

28. ERHERE (&)

(i) Share Option Scheme (Continued) (i) BEERRHERE (&)
Options may be exercised during such period (including the ERAFTRESSRENHE (B1EE
minimum period, if any, for which an option must be held AT R AT BT B B R HIRR (1A
before it can be exercised) as may be determined by the B)) 17 GZHAM B A REiE AR
Directors (which shall be less than ten years from the date of ZITAHRET NMSRETF) R TAX
issue of the relevant option). Options may be granted without ABTIEAENERBIRENREIN
initial payment except the payment of HK$1 as consideration BRI BAEELTEBARAER T
for grant of option each time. The exercise price is equal to B ATEERER TR EE  ()RH
the highest of (i) nominal value of the Shares; (ii) the closing EE: ()RR B Ei7EE 2 P B3R
price of the Shares as stated in the daily quotations sheet BRATREKTE: KD EEERK
issued by the Stock Exchange on the date of the grant; and i B BB R A8 5 B B R P g A (B
(iii) the average closing price of the Shares as stated in the RIURE T E
daily quotations sheets issued by the Stock Exchange for the
five business days immediately preceding the date of the grant.
(@) Share options granted on 23 December 2005 @ R-FFEAFF+—A-1=AKT
HIRERR
The following table discloses details of the Company’s TREEN-_ZEERAF A=+
options granted on 23 December 2005 under the ZARTHERESETZES
Scheme held by employees (including a director) and (BREESR) HEARABEREFE
movement in such holdings during the year: RRERN 2 #E:
Number of share options
BRESE
Outstanding at Outstanding at Outstanding at
1.4.2005 31.3.2006 31.3.2007
Date of Exercise WZEZRE  Granted during WZEERE  Exercised during RIF5tLE
Category  grant price mA—A the year =R=+-H the year =A=+-H
it B¥H TiERE i RITERE EREFHA HRITEHE ERITEHA ERITESE
Director 23 December 2005 8.50 - 600,000 600,000 - 600,000
£ —2PEs
+=A=+=A
Employees 23 December 2005 8.50 - 1,200,000 1,200,000 (300,000) 900,000
E& “TThE
+-A=t+=A
- 1,800,000 1,800,000 (300,000) 1,500,000
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28. Share Option Schemes (Continued) 28. HERiERTE (@)

(i) Share Option Scheme (Continued) (i) BERRHERE (&)
(@) Share options granted on 23 December 2005 @ R-FEAFT_A-1T=AKT

(Continued) mEE R 1E (4B)

The options granted on 23 December 2005 may be REZEZRF+—_A=+=AKHN

exercised in accordance with the following terms of the 2 BB R P AR IR R 8N B SRAT

Scheme as to: fiE:

(@) one-third of the options commencing 23 December (@ m :;EEE:IE +TZHAZ+=
2005 to 22 December 2008, the fair value of each AE_ZTENF+_HA=+
option at the date of grant is HK$1.87; ZHITE=9 2 —HRERRE

BREERERERZAYF
bt A21.8787T:

(b)  one-third of the options commencing 23 December by AZZEZRFT_HA=T+=
2006 to 22 December 2008 with vesting period AE-_ZFTENF+HA=+
from 23 December 2005 to 22 December 2006, —H ﬁﬁ:’\z—mﬁﬁﬁﬁé
the fair value of each option at the date of grant is RIEETRBR TR F
HK$1.97; and +TZAZ+=HEZZTRX

FHZ A=+ =H BIREE
BREBEB 2 AFEGA
1.97%87T: &

(c)  one-third of the options commencing 23 December (© HBHIZZF ‘t¢ TZA=+=
2007 to 22 December 2008 with vesting period BE_ZSENF+-A=+
from 23 December 2005 to 22 December 2007, ZRHITE=5 2 — R
the fair value of each option at the date of grant is MEETERHBE-_ZTAEF
HK$2.08. TZTAZT=RE_EZT+t

F+— A+ —H BEREE
REBEBZ2AFEMGA
2.088 7T
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For the year ended 31 March 2007 #Z_—FZF+F=HA=1—HIFFZ

28. FERMERE (&)

Exercise price

Expected volatility (note a)
Risk-free interest rate (note b)
Expected annual dividend yield
Total option life

Notes:

118

EEKE (Fi5ta)
R A B (FEb)
BHSFREERR
HETRTREH

(@)  Expected volatility was determined by using the historical
volatility of the price return of the ordinary shares of the
Company over the past year from the valuation date.

(b)  The risk-free rate interest was based on the yield of

Exchange Fund Note.

The estimated fair value with respect to share options
granted to a director and employees on 23 December
2005 was HK$3,552,000 of which HK$1,510,000 (2006:
HK$1,573,000) was charged to the consolidated income

statement for the year.
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Share Option Scheme (Continued) (i) BmEEE (&)
(@) Share options granted on 23 December 2005 @ R-ZFEAFT_HA-1T=AKT
(Continued) BB AR HE (4B)
These fair values were calculated using the Binominal ZENTEAZIEAEXGTE -
model. The valuation as at 23 December 2005 was ECTETRFE+Z A =B
carried out by Sallmanns (Far East) Limited. The inputs EmfM GRE) BR AR H
used in the model were as follows: RETEER 2@ AZAT
2006
ZEEFEREF
Closing share price at date of grant £T Az E HK$ (B7T) 8.50

HK$ (7T) 8.50
37.01%

4.10%

2.63%

3 years ()

B R

(a) TEHEBFIRRAGE B EFRUA
ARIEBRBE—FHELEE
1513 A% 0 i 726 7E

() ERERNEEAINERE S RIREE
BEROERE.

AR =TT hF+=-A=1+=H
BT —REERES ZERIE S
s AF{EA3,552,00058 7T HA
1,510,0008 L (ZEFX
£ :1,573,000/7T) EEFAZ 4R
ElERAARR.



28. Share Option Schemes (Continued) 28. HERiERTE (@)

(i) Share Option Scheme (Continued) (i) EERREE (%‘5)
(b)  Share options granted on 3 October 2006 b) R-ZFENFFA=ZARTHE
A
The following table discloses details of the Company’s TREBR-_ZZF+A=ZHK
options granted on 3 October 2006 under the Scheme 2 BERERTEI T 2 BB (BEE
held by employees (including directors) and movement %) ﬁﬁ@ﬁﬁﬁ%%?’%&%ﬁm
in such holdings during the year: pd
Number of share options
BREZE
Outstanding at
Outstanding at 31.3.2007
1.4.2006 FREHR
RZFFRE Grantedduring R-FFTLE

Category Date of grant Exercise price mMAE—H the year =A=+—-H

B8 BFH TiEE HRITESE ENTERE HRITEEE

Director 3 October 2006 15.10 - 1,872,000 1,872,000

Ex 2T ETA=H

Employees 3 October 2006 15.10 - 3,456,000 3,456,000

&8 “2E¥TA=A

- 5,328,000 5,328,000

The options granted on 3 October 2006 may be exercised RZZETRFTA=ZAREZER

in accordance with the following terms of the Scheme FERIRIEET 2 N A IR T(E

as to:

(@) 1,676,000 of the options commencing 1 January (@ BZTEENF—H—H=E
2008 to 31 December 2010, with vesting period ET-—ETF+_H=+—H ﬁ
from 3 October 2006 to 31 December 2007, the 1%1,676,0008% HY i st e K &
fair value of each option at the date of grant is ETFERE =TT RFTA
approximately HK$4.13; —HE=ZEZE+F+A=

T—H EREERERER
Z A HEfET R41378TT
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For the year ended 31 March 2007 #Z_—FZF+F=HA=1—HIFFZ

28. Share Option Schemes (Continued) 28. EERRiERTE (@)
(i) Share Option Scheme (Continued) (i) HEERR#ERE (&)

(b)  Share options granted on 3 October 2006 (Continued)

(b) 1,826,000 of the options commencing 1 January
2009 to 31 December 2010, with vesting period
from 3 October 2006 to 31 December 2008, the
fair value of each option at the date of grant is
approximately HK$4.47; and

(0 1,826,000 of the options commencing 1 January
2010 to 31 December 2010, with vesting period
from 3 October 2006 to 31 December 2009, the
fair value of each option at the date of grant is
approximately HK$4.69.

These fair values were calculated using the Binominal
model. The valuation the as at 3 October 2006 was
carried out by Sallmanns (Far East) Limited. The inputs
used in the model were as follows:

b) R-FENF+H=ZARTHE
BRHE ()

(b)

o

A ara
2%

—EENF—HA—HEZ
E-FE+-A=+—H1T
151,826,0000% & & i I &
EITFEHIR — T NF+ A
ZRAE_TZENF+_A=
+—H EBREERHAEH
ZAERFTR4ATETT &

B-ZE—ZEF—A—H=&EC
E-TF+-_A=+—H1T
181,826,000 ) 5 A% 1 K7 1
ETEHER - EEANETA
ZHE-ETAF+=-A=
+— B BREEREAEH
2 A AR A4.6975 T

DNFEAZIBAERGTH B

E-TTRETA=ZRZAEHA
F GER) BR AR BRFTE
BAZBAT:

2006
—BTRE

Closing share price at date of grant T Az E
Exercise price 111 E

Expected volatility (note a) TaE R E (Fizta)
Risk-free interest rate (note b) ERRAEZE (M b)
Expected annual dividend yield TBEAGFREESE
Total option life ARET R A HA

Notes:

(@)  Expected volatility was determined by using the historical
volatility of the price return of the ordinary shares of the
Company over the past year from the valuation date.

(b)  The risk-free rate interest was based on the yield of
Exchange Fund Note.
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38.00%

3.83%
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28. Share Option Schemes (Continued)

0}

Share Option Scheme (Continued)
(b)  Share options granted on 3 October 2006 (Continued)

The estimated fair value with respect to share options
granted to directors and employees on 3 October 2006
was HK$22,279,000 of which HK$5,902,000 was
charged to the consolidated income statement for the
year.

(ii) Pre-IPO Scheme

The principal terms of the Pre-IPO Scheme, approved and
amended by written resolutions of the shareholders of the
Company dated 11 September 2003, are similar to the terms
of the Scheme except for the followings:

(@)  The subscription price per share was the price per public
offer share on the initial public offering in September
2003 ("Offer price”); and

(b)  Save for the options which was granted (with details set
out below), no further options would be offered or
granted, as the right to do so was ended upon the listing
of the shares of the Company on the Stock Exchange.

On 11 September 2003, the Company granted share options
under the Pre-IPO Scheme to the directors and certain
employees of the Group, which entitled them to subscribe
for a total of 75,000,000 shares at HK$4.17 per share.

Save and except for Gold Best, all other holders to whom
options were granted under the Pre-IPO Scheme are entitled
to exercise (i) up to 50% of the options granted to him/her at
any time after the expiry of 6 months till the first anniversary
of the listing date, (i) up to 75% of the options granted to
him/her of any time until the second anniversary of the listing
date, (iii) up to 100% of the options granted to him/her at
any time until the third anniversary of the listing date.

28. FERMERE (&)

()

ERESE (&)

b) R-FENF+A=HAERTFHE
REE (48)
BN F+A=HFET—
HEZNEE CBIREZGETAT
{E/422,279,0007%8 70 E715,902,
000/ BTLEEF N 2 fre Wam ik N
ABRe

(i) ERRERE S

BT E SN BIR AR ERATRT 8IH 5§
R ERRRBRERR—ZEZ=FNA+
—HBENEEARRRMAERER]) &
ZaTBIAIRFARLL:

(@) EERBEEFR_ZZ=FNA
BRORBEERERAFESKN
mER ((REE]) &

(b) BRTERHHERE FR T
S ARBATEBITIREJE BT
{AIRE AR R ARt B 0B R
EBAR B ZPT ETH 2
R Eo

R-ZZBE=FNA+—B AARRE
B ARSI 8% H BB T A%
EES=NETIES FEERSR17
BITHER & HEFRHE75,000,000% 0%

,f/'\ ®

BR T Gold Best 9N 1R 1% B R AR B AXAT
AR B P A EAB R AT ()R
EiEmANEARE E B —AFAITT
ERZERRBRIEN50% ()R LEH
B AT 2 AITTERZEREEBAED
75% : iy £ B =FAF 2 BT TERZ
ERERAEARER100% ©
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For the year ended 31 March 2007 #Z_—FZF+F=HA=1—HIFFZ

28. Share Option Schemes (Continued) 28.

(ii) Pre-IPO Scheme (Continued)
The following table discloses details of the Company’s options
under the Pre-IPO Scheme held by employees (including
directors) and movement in such holdings during the year:

Exercise  Outstanding
price at 1.4.2005
Tl —%%1%

WERRHESB) ()

(i) ERABEREHE (2)
TREBAATRERAREBRATE
T2 RE (RSP A AR
BRAFRZ R

Outstanding Outstanding
Exercised  at31.3.2006 Exercised  at31.3.2007
during “E3RE during k-3

Category Date of grant HK$ R-H theyear Z=R=+—H theyear Z=A=+—H
#3 AN BT R AT IE ERITE R AT ERITE i R AT
Directors 11 September 2003 4.17 4,786,000 (1,920,000) 2,866,000 (2,866,000) -
% ZZT=FNAT-A
Employees 11 September 2003 417 4,054,000 (1,404,000) 2,650,000 (2,650,000) -
= ZZT=ENAATH
Others 11 September 2003 4.17 900,000 (900,000) - - -
it ZZT=FNAT-A

9,740,000 (4,224,000) 5,516,000 (5,516,000) -

During the year, the fair value of the Company’s share on the
date the share options were exercised were in the range from
HK$11.80 to HK$12.81.

Total consideration received during the year from directors
and employees for exercise of the options granted under the
Pre-IPO Scheme is HK$23,002,000 (2006: HK$17,614,000).
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FR BRETERE AR BRNH A
FEM11.80/BTE12.81BT T Fe

BEBXABERAETRTES
MEIZHERETEBANZ KA
/423,002,000 (Z T N4EF:
17,614,0005 7T) ©



29. Operating Lease Arrangements 29. WEENLH
The Group as lessee SEEREEAN
At the balance sheet date, the Group had commitments for future REZE B ARERBDAEEER T REF
minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases KERAN BB ENREESIT:
in respect of land and buildings, which fall due as follows:

2007 2006

—TFtkE ZETX
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Within one year —FR 136,042 310
In the second to fifth year inclusive E_FEENFN (BEEEMRFE) 116,750 =
After five years FRFE® 658,048 =
910,840 310

REHSHEAKRERMBREETHAE
ERMNES - WAZTYENER T —F
HAEE N MAR =15 He

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the Group
for forestry lands and certain of its office properties. For office
properties, leases are negotiated for an average term of one year

with fixed rentals. For forestry lands, leases are negotiated for an RAFATE-
average term of thirty years and rentals are fixed for every five

years.

The Group as lessor SEERHBEA

At the balance sheet date, the Group had contracted with tenants REEH AEBHEF AFREERTBEZ

for the use of the Group’s pipelines with the following future FERTE SRS L0 -
minimum lease payments:
2007 2006
—TTLE ZETRF
HK$'000 HK$'000
Fi#Ex T
Within one year —FNR 390 390
In the second to fifth year inclusive E_FEENFAN (BIEERMRSE) 1,560 1,560
After five years FHF® 1,170 1,560
3,120 3,510
Operating lease payments represent rental payable by tenants for KERSIEHRF AFERANEENEE RN
the use of the Group’s pipelines. Leases are negotiated for an average e HEFH+F HARS T E-

term of ten years with fixed rentals.
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30. Capital Commitments 30. EAKIE
2007 2006
—ETtE ZEER
HK$'000 HK$'000
TFHET FHTT
Capital expenditure contracted for but not MEEYE BB L&
provided in the consolidated financial BETAVE AR AR G IR
statements in respect of acquisition of BN E AR
property, plant and equipment 2,109,652 1,512,699
31. Non-cash Transactions 31. kREXS
During the year ended 31 March 2006, notes receivable of FN#926,643,0008 7T 2 R R RY)
approximately HK$26,643,000 were utilised to acquire property, * WERRERE-
plant and equipment of the same amount.
32. Connected And Related Party Transactions And  32. #HEAALBRER 5 Rtk

Balances

(@) Significant transactions with connected and related parties
during the year and balances with them at the balance sheet
date are as follows:

@ FA HEEATETNEARS LR
BEABRGEANGHRNT:

2007 2006
Nature of —ETtHF ZEERF
Name of party transaction/balance HK$'000 HK$'000
FREANLZRE %5/ wEeHitE T#ET FAT
Lee & Man Industrial Finished goods sold 97,724 122,018
Manufacturing B &R M
BYXEHE Waste paper purchased - 7,764
BREER
Steam sold 1,560 1,560
BEEXER
Balance due from Lee & Man
Industrial Manufacturing 12,743 22,938
JEUUE LB HE A
Lee & Man Paper Products Licence fee paid 878 869
Limited (note i) B FEE
B HmAaR AR (i)
Lee & Man Management Management fee paid - 39
Company Limited ENERE
(note ii)
EBXEEERAR]
(5 i)
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32. Connected And Related Party Transactions And
Balances (Continued)

(@) (Continued)
Notes:
()  Lee & Man Paper Products Limited is under control of Mr Lee
Wan Keung Patrick, a director of the Company.

(i) Lee & Man Management Company Limited is a subsidiary of

Lee and Man Holding Limited which in turn is beneficially owned
by Fortune Star.

(b) The remuneration of the directors and other members of key

32. HEAANTREXZRER (&)

@ &)
Bt

) BXERERATRRBARRAZRSF

B RE

iy BEXEEERARAENEEAFRA
AIMMI B A A I A Fortune StarE x5HE

Ho

(b) BERHEMITEEIERENKERFERZ M

management during the year was as follows: SR

2007 2006
—ETtE —EETR

HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FAT
Short-term benefits 5 HAE A 8,421 6,645
Post-employment benefits RIRAEF 60 53
Share-based payment expense &t 2 IR 3,366 1,573
11,847 8,271
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33. ARRAEEEARE
BE_ZTT+F=A=+—RHEEAEBXRA

33. Balance Sheet Of The Company

The summarised balance sheet of the Company as at 31 March
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2007 is as follows: FEAT:
2007 2006
ZEZELF —ETRE
HK$'000 HK$'000
T#ET F&TT
Investments in subsidiaries KB A RRIRE 637,977 637,977
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEULHI B A RIZRIE 5,456,477 2,925,569
Other receivables Hoh pE i RIE 5,278 =
Bank balances RITHRERR 2,431 155
Total assets MEE 6,102,163 3,563,701
Convertible bonds AR ES 205,364 901,006
Unsecured bank borrowings I IRIRITEE 1,000,000 =
Other payables HAb R FRIE 3,100 400
Derivative financial instrument PTEMET A 3 1,200
Total liabilities mAfE 1,208,467 902,606
4,893,696 2,661,095
Share capital f& 7R 111,948 96,761
Reserves (note) % () 4,781,748 2,564,334
Total equity BRET 4,893,696 2,661,095




33. Balance Sheet Of The Company (Continued) 33. AnAEEAER (@)
Note: B
Reserves &
Convertible
bonds equity Retained
Share options  Contributed reserve profits
Share premium reserve surplus AR &S BE Total
BIYEE  ERERE BAER B RS Bl @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THL TAT TAT THT THL THL
At 1 April 2005 “ZTREMA—H 1,846,628 - 634,977 - 5275 2,486,880
Issue of convertible bonds BTRRES - - - 62,000 = 62,000
Transaction costs attributable to issue of TR EF IR
convertible bonds LR HKA - - - (1,744) - (1,744)
Issue of shares on exercise of share options AT EEREm TR 17,191 - - - - 17,191
Share-based payment A (508 - 1,573 - - - 1573
Profit for the year FREF| - - - - 171,843 171,843
Dividend paid RS = = = = (173,409) (173,409)
At 31 March 2006 “EEE=A=1+-H 1,863,819 1,573 634,977 60,256 3,709 2,564,334
Issuie of shares on exercise of share options BT ERRRE M TR 25,531 (561) - - - 24,970
Issue of shares on placement of shares RERmETRR 1,451,823 - - - - 1451823
Issue of shares on conversion of RrakES LAmETRG
convertible bonds 782,729 - - (47,921) - 734,808
Share-based payment i SARE - 7,412 - - - 7412
Profit for the year FEREF - - - - 393,942 393,942
Dividend paid &S = = = = (395,541) (395,541)
At 31 March 2007 “ZTEHE=A=1-H 4,123,902 8424 634,977 12,335 2,110 4,781,748

The contributed surplus of the Company represents the difference
between the aggregate net assets of the subsidiaries acquired by
the Company pursuant to the corporate reorganisation in September
2003 and the nominal value of the Company’s shares issued for
the acquisition.

At 31 March 2007, the Company’s reserves available for distribution
to its shareholders comprise share premium, contributed surplus
and retained profits which in aggregate amounted to approximately
HK$4,761 million (2006: HK$2,503 million). Under the Companies
Law (2001 Second Revision) of the Cayman Islands, the share
premium of the Company is available for paying distributions or
dividends to shareholders subject to the provisions of its
Memorandum and Articles of Association and provided that
immediately following the payment of distributions or dividends,
the Company is able to pay its debts as they fall due in the ordinary
course of business. In accordance with the Company’s Articles of
Association, dividends shall be payable out of the profits or other
reserves, including the share premium account, of the Company.

ARBNBABBREARRTNR_ET=FA
ASHEREBSHEARNEEHERRE
BN R AR IR M BT TH AR R #
E{EMNZERE.

ARARED K TBER G RERDEE
BABREBTRS R _TELF=A=1
—HEERENR47 61EETT (ZTTRF:
25.03(F8TT) “REMSHEREE (ZTF
—FH IRIERTIR) - ENE A RMEBEIZR
A N ARNERTE T AN A B ERD (B F] 1
AR DR S (AR RAR B A RBE S (N
IR BIAR RABUIARENER EEBB
BRXNIHNAE-REARARR QA
A BB ZAUAR RN BN SRR
BB RER-
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For the year ended 31 March 2007 #Z_—FZF+F=HA=1—HIFFZ

34. Principal Subsidiaries 34. TEWBLAR
Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries, as at 31 March 2007, AR EZHBAR (B
are as follows: —H) BFBAT:

Nominal value of issued and
fully paid share capital/
registered capital

Place of incorporation or
establishment/operations

Proportion ownership

interest hold
by the Company
ANAHEER
BEELE

“EELF=A=F

Name of subsidiary SR AL E LI BRTREERE, Directly Indirectly  Principal activities
Wi B2 F A HE EEME AMBAEE B M IEXH
Able Advance International Limited British Virgin Islands Ordinary shares — US$4 100 - Investment holding
RBRAHES LR — 4= REER
Lee & Man Industries Company Limited ~ British Virgin Islands Ordinary share — US$1 - 100 Investment holding
RBRAHS LRR— 1% REER
Evergreen Trading Company Limited Malaysia Ordinary shares — US$2 - 100 Procurement of
SRAED LAk — 2%t raw materials
REBRE
Lee Kwok (Macao Commercial Macau MOP100,000 - 100 Procurement of
Offshore) Trading Limited A JRPFI%100,0007T raw materials
HE ORFIBEREXERTE) B REERA
BRAR
Wang Kei (Macao Commercial Macau MOP100,000 - 100 Export trading of paper
Offshore) Trading Limited b BF9#100,0007T KREOES
rE (RPIREREZERE) BS
ARAT
R GERBARA R PRC (note) Registered capital — - 100 Manufacturing and
(Dongguan Lee & Man Paper HE (Pt US$118,480,000 trading of paper
Factory Co., Ltd.) & A — 118,480,000 7T EREERES
BREERER AR PRC (note) Registered capital — = 100 Manufacturing and
(Guangdong Lee & Man Paper HE (Pt US$400,000,000 trading of paper
Manufacturing Limited) AR — 400,000,000 7T EREERES
ITEIEGERBR AR PRC (note) Registered capital — - 100 Manufacturing and
(Jiangsu Lee & Man Paper FE (fiE) US$188,000,000 trading of paper
Manufacturing Company Limited) A& A — 188,000,000 ST BREERES
Evergreen Pulp Inc. United States of America Ordinary shares — US$1,000 - 100 Manufacturing of pulp
ESE LA — 1,000 £ ik
Top Honour Industries Limited British Virgin Islands Ordinary shares — US$100 - 100 Investment holding
EERAHES LAk —100 =1 REER
BEREAARAR PRC (note) Registered capital — - 100  Manufacturing and
(Chongging Lee & Man Paper HE (Pt US$29,800,000 trading of paper
Manufacturing Limited) AR — 29,800,000 7T EREERES
EREXHERRERERAR PRC (note) Registered capital — - 100 Producing raw materials
(Guangxi Lee & Man Forestry HE (P HK$168,000,000 for manufacturing
Technology Limited) A& A — 168,000,000 7T paper
HEEE PR A B AR A
R
Note: The companies are wholly foreign owned investment enterprises Bzt : ZEARERPBRKZNEINGHE 2I8E
established in the PRC. o
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34. Principal Subsidiaries (continued)

35.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the
opinion of the directors, principally affected the results or assets
and liabilities of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries
would, in the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive
length.

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities outstanding at the
end of the year, or at any time during the year.

Post Balance Sheet Events

On 10 April 2007, Top Honour Industries Limited (“Top Honour"),
a subsidiary of the Group, entered into an agreement with an
independent third party, Wise Sense Investments Limited (“Wise
Sense”), to set up a subsidiary, Joint Creation Limited (“Joint
Creation”). 75% and 25% of the shares of Joint Creation were
subscribed in cash and issued to Top Honour and Wise Sense,
respectively. Top Honour will inject USD128 million (approximately
HK$995 million) by way of further subscription of shares or
shareholder loan or a combination thereof. Joint Creation will be
principally engaged in the production of linerboard and corrugating
medium in Vietnam.

On 10 April 2007, Joint Creation has entered into an acquisition
agreement with an outsider, Metso Paper Inc., for purchasing a
main unit of a paper machine, Paper Machine XV, that is to be
assembled in Vietnam. The total consideration was agreed to be
EUR40 million (approximately HK$418 million).

34. TEMBRA

35.

ERINMBEERRT B EAREEER
BERAENARRNBAR-EZRS
HE AR A RIS S AN BN TR
BARBIEZEER

REEBRFREAIRRE B A RGEE
AREEERES

HEHESH

—EELFA+H AEEZHEBARTop
Honour Industries Limited ( [Top Honour ) £2
¥ 5 = J7Wise Sense Investments Limited
(Twise Sense | ) RT L1735  FELARK LB A 7
Joint Creation Limited ( [Joint Creation ) °Joint
Creation,275% }&25%8% 7 ThLAZR & 3308 - I
7 RIE4T F Top Honour & Wise Sense ° Top
Honour i3 83 — PR IR0 SR R B 3Rk
MEFRA E&128,000,000% 7T (4
995,000,00077T) °Joint Creationi == B4
AR AR R ELAS AR R A E

—ZZ P15+ H Joint Creation %oz
Metso Paper Inc.5T 3 Wi 757 - 5 LARE B RIS
RBEIAEE 2 5+ R RE R i - (B
7E /340,000,000 7T (494.18,000,000/#7T) ©
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

B RE

Year ended 31 March
BE=A=+—HILEE

2003 2004 2005 2006 2007
—=E= —EENFE —TTRF TTRF | ZEEEH
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AT AT AT FAT F#ET
RESULTS ES
Turnover =R 1,028,406 1,701,055 2,771,423 3,778,054 | 5,160,552
Profit before taxation BRI AT A 215,076 290,128 423,436 625,586 | 1,041,005
Income tax expenses FISTFAZ (2,000) (5,250) (5,693) (25,558) (30,894)
Profit for the year FERAF 213,076 284,878 417,743 600,028 | 1,010,111
Attributable to: FE(:
Equity holders of NAERFEB A 213,076 284,878 417,743 600,028 | 1,010,024
the Company
Minority interests DER S - - - = (93)
213,076 284,878 417,743 600,028 | 1,010,111
At 31 March
=B=+—H
2003 2004 2005 2006 2007
—EE= —EENFE —ZTERF —ZTTRX —EFtF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T FAT FAT FAT FHET
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES ZEEHE&E
Total assets BEEE 1,929,783 3,409,123 4,113,393 5,774,016 | 9,845,200
Total liabilities A58 (1,435,267) (1,505,725) (1,071,932) (2,196,972) | (3,274,499)
Shareholders’ funds BERES 494516 1,903,398 3,041,461 3,577,044 | 6,570,701
Equity attributable to NAERFEE A 494516 1,903,398 3,041,461 3,577,044 | 6,570,794
equity holders of JE(h RS
the Company
Minority interests DE R - - - = (93)
Total equity R 494,516 1,903,398 3,041,461 3,577,044 | 6,570,701
Note: The Company was incorporated and registered as an exempted company ~ FfizF: AR FRZZEZ=FH A - +—HRHSE S+

in the Cayman Islands on 21 May 2003 and became the holding company
of the Group as a result of a group reorganisation in September 2003. The
financial summary has been presented on the basis that the Company had
been the holding company of the Group from the beginning of the earliest

period presented.

BAVAS SRy b &= NI RRIdEy e ESEE=FEN NS
R =FNARBAEERER AR - BHE
TR N R B & F2RAERAG BN EEE
PR AR AT 23R
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